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To Hon Albert Jacob MLA  
Minister for Heritage

In accordance with section 61 of  
the Financial Management Act 2006,  
The National Trust hereby submits, for your 
information and presentation to Parliament, 
the Annual Report of The National Trust of 
Australia (WA) for the financial year ended  
30 June 2015. 

The Annual Report has been prepared  
in accordance with the provisions of  
the Financial Management Act 2006. 

Thomas E. Perrigo 
Chief Executive Officer

18th September 2015
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I have always maintained that, as a Trust for both 
government and the community, the National  
Trust continues to provide an amazing diversity  
of services.

This is primarily due to the fact the National Trust is 
able to secure important resources for programs across 
the spectrum of cultural heritage particularly through 
key partnerships, which enables it to deliver significant 
and consistent high quality outcomes. 

This is evidenced by the recognition of two most 
recent awards. The North Fremantle School of Early 
Learning in Stirling House which is the former North 
Fremantle Primary School, received a conservation 
Heritage Award from the City of Fremantle in 2015.  
The Cancer Wellness Centre at Wanslea was awarded 
both the Gerry Gauntlett Award in the State Heritage 
Awards and the Margaret Pitt Morison Award for 
Heritage in the West Australian Architecture Awards.

Furthermore, the National Trust has leased both the 
Old Perth Boys’ School and 57 Murray Street to Curtin 
University. The former will be used as an Alumni Office 
and the latter will see the introduction of Curtin 
University’s Law School.

Another important partnership has been with 
Murdoch University which has provided a significant 
investment towards Whitby Falls Farm which it 
manages under a lease agreement with the National 
Trust. Murdoch University has recently completed a  
$3 million restoration of Whitby Falls Farm which is 
now used as a Veterinary School by the University.

The National Trust takes on the challenges of working 
with these heritage places because it believes they 
should be cared for on behalf of future generations. 
Without the National Trust, many of these places 
would deteriorate or be irreversibly changed. After all, 
it is important to remember these are all State assets 
that belong to the community. 

The National Trust is firmly committed to conserve  
and interpret Aboriginal heritage. Not only was ours 
the first National Trust in Australia to develop a 
Reconciliation Action Plan and to commit to 
reconciliation, but it continues to lead by example  

and to provide important leadership to many others. 
This commitment is reflected through the work of its 
Foundations, the innovation generated by the National 
Trust, since 2007, in partnership with numerous 
Aboriginal groups. The Foundations allow for monies 
to be invested into conserving and interpreting 
Aboriginal heritage and maintaining this important 
cultural patrimony in Western Australia. This has 
included the rescue and revival of six Goldfields 
Aboriginal languages over the past four years through 
the Ngalia Foundation and the introduction of the  
Roy Hill Cultural Awareness Training program through 
the K & P Foundation, established by the Kariyarra and 
Palyku people.

The National Trust recognises the excellent support  
by the resources sector including Fortescue Metals 
Group, Atlas Iron Ore, Roy Hill and BHP Billiton.

Thanks to the National Trust Partnership Program 
funding from the Commonwealth, the continued 
development, quality and delivery of the National 
Trust’s schools and public education programs have 
been significant, as evidenced by an increasing 
number of programs and visitors to Trust places.  
The National Trust has committed to the Australian 
Curriculum for its schools programs and as the lead 
Trust, continues to provide national leadership for  
the coordination of education programs linked to  
National Trust places in Australia, as well as links  
to other heritage places and events of national 
heritage significance. 

The education programs also demonstrate the 
National Trust’s commitment to both present and 
future generations. It is our belief that if there is a 
commitment to increasing knowledge, awareness  
and understanding of Western Australia’s heritage, 
these future generations may be in a very strong 
position to commit to its conservation and 
interpretation for many years to come. 

It is also important to recognise the contribution  
made by all members of Council who give their time 
voluntarily and who provide a depth of knowledge 
and experience at all levels. 

President’s Report

I am pleased to present my report for 2014–2015 in this,  
my fourth year as President of the National Trust of Australia (WA).
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While the Hon John Cowdell AM resigned as Chairman 
of the National Trust after the AGM in 2014, he remains 
an active member of Council and Executive Committee 
in his role as Vice-President, as well as representing the 
National Trust on the Australian Council of National 
Trusts. Our newly elected Chairman, the Hon Michael 
Murray AM, continues to provide quality guidance  
and distinguished leadership and the National Trust  
is fortunate to have persons of this calibre in  
leadership roles.

On behalf of the National Trust, I would also like  
to express our sincere gratitude to Tom Perrigo  
for his twenty-five years of dedicated service and 
commitment to the National Trust as its Chief Executive 
Officer. Tom’s vision and drive have seen the National 
Trust of Australia (WA) become a respected and 
recognised leader in its field and throughout the 
National Trust movement in Australia. While Tom has 
stepped away from his responsibilities as CEO, he will 
now be able to dedicate more time to strategic areas  
of development for the National Trust.

There are always significant issues and challenges  
to be faced, including the increasing demands for 
National Trust services. We hope to see our members 
and supporters working with us to ensure this  
great work can continue efficiently and effectively. 
Without your increased support, these issues will 
continue to grow and the ability to meet the  
challenges will be restricted. 

Please remember that the National Trust works with,  
and for others, not for itself. The National Trust is  
working for the community of Western Australia. 

I commend the 2014–2015 Annual Report to you. 

Thank you 

 
Max Kay AM CitWA
President

President’s Report

A hill on Barwidgee Station, Goldfields region in Tjupan country. K Dreessen



Executive Summary

Furthermore, our cultural heritage encompasses 
important social, historic, scientific, aesthetic 
and spiritual values which are important to the 
National Trust as it represents the community  
of Western Australia

Whether in the historic, natural or Aboriginal 
environment, there will always be a connection  
to these values and it is therefore important for  
the National Trust to continue to play a pivotal role  
in helping to increase the knowledge, awareness, 
understanding and commitment to these values. 
The National Trust is committed to ensuring our 
present and future generations understand the 
significance of these values through a range of 
experiences and opportunities which showcase  
the richness of our State’s heritage. Furthermore, 
the National Trust needs to ensure that through  
its conservation and interpretation processes  
our cultural heritage significance is retained  
and remains at the forefront, in line with the  
Burra Charter. 

The National Trust of Australia (WA) Act (1964) 
clearly identifies the importance of the National 
Trusts’ significant role as a public educational 
institution. In keeping with this objective, the 
National Trust remains a national leader in the 
coordination of heritage education and in the 
development and delivery of schools programs 
linked to the Australian Curriculum through a 
range of opportunities across curriculum learning 
areas. These are further enhanced by the addition 
of public and interactive online programs which 
cater for the diversity of levels, interests and age 
ranges.

Over the 2014/15 financial year, the National  
Trust’s projects and programs have effectively  
and efficiently delivered measurable outcomes 
reflecting the four strategic objectives of 
leadership, governance, sustainability and 
partnerships. 

The National Trust also commends and appreciates 
the high level and important commitment of its 
volunteers, including the members of Council,  
who continue to donate one of their most  
valuable assets, time, to assist the operational  
and administrative staff in their efforts to  
conserve and interpret this State’s cultural heritage.  
The work done by the Council of the National Trust, 
associated committees and the hundreds of 
volunteers in all aspects of the National Trust’s 
work is sincerely valued.

Equally valued is the work of the National Trust 
staff who continue to give consistently and 
demonstrate their deep and genuine commitment 
to conserving and interpreting Western Australia’s 
heritage. Their understanding of and adherence to 
the highest professional standards ensures quality 
heritage outputs and these have been significant 
in 2014–2015, as clearly outlined in this Annual 
Report. The scope of works includes commercial 
projects, grant funded projects, interpretation and 
orientation projects, prisoner training projects, 
conservation works, education and learning 
programs and public events and programs.

The mission of the National Trust of Australia (WA),  
to conserve and interpret Western Australia’s cultural  
heritage (historic, natural and Aboriginal), highlights the 
important role of the National Trust in valuing and respecting  
the diversity of Western Australia’s cultural heritage. 
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Enabling Legislation

The National Trust of Australia (WA) was established 
in 1959 and in 1964 was created as a statutory 
authority under the National Trust of Australia (WA) 
Act 1964. The National Trust of Australia (WA) is a 
Trust for the Government and the community and  
is a member-focused not-for-profit organisation.

Responsible Minister

The National Trust of Australia (WA) is accountable  
to the Parliament of Western Australia through the 
Minister for Environment; Heritage the Hon Albert 
Jacob MLA. It is through the Minister that an annual 
report is submitted and accountability is exercised  
for appropriations.

Vision

The National Trust of Australia (WA) is the  
pre-eminent community based organisation 
promoting the conservation and interpretation of 
Western Australia’s unique heritage and educating 
the community about the use of cultural heritage 
(historic, natural and Aboriginal) for the long-term 
social, economic and environmental benefit of the 
community.

Mission

The National Trust of Australia (WA) conserves  
and interprets Western Australia’s heritage  
(historic, natural and Aboriginal) for present  
and future generations.

Objectives 

Leadership 
To increase the knowledge, awareness, 
understanding and commitment of decision  
makers in all aspects of heritage.

Governance  
To demonstrate best practice processes in our 
culture, systems and skills enabling more efficient 
and effective operations as a Trust for government, 
the community and stakeholders.

Sustainability 
To deliver standards, processes and products that are 
economically, socially and environmentally sustainable.

Partnerships  
To initiate and sustain the widest possible 
participation, support and engagement with 
heritage.

Key Strategic Initiatives  
To diversify income, integrate knowledge,  
utilise assets and connect with partners.

Principles 

1. The National Trust of Australia (WA) works for 
others not itself; 

2. The National Trust of Australia (WA) is primarily  
a custodian of heritage places; 

3. The National Trust of Australia (WA) is managed 
with volunteers but not by volunteers; and 

4. The National Trust of Australia (WA) is an 
educational institution and heritage places  
are one of the primary tools for education  
and learning. 

Accountability and Transparency 

The National Trust will report its outcomes in all  
of the key areas in an open and transparent manner 
in concise and clear English. 

The National Trust will develop, maintain, and 
enhance activities which match the needs and 
objectives of the Trust with the knowledge, skills, 
experience, expertise and enthusiasm of professional 
staff and volunteers. 

Services 

The National Trust of Australia (WA) is a  
statutory authority that delivers heritage services 
through whole of government appropriations.  
The organisation delivers heritage services in the 
areas of Conservation, Stewardship, Education, 
Interpretation, Planning and Management. 

Patron 

Her Excellency the Honourable Kerry Sanderson AO., 
the Governor of Western Australia.

Operational Structure



Organisational Chart
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Volunteers and Committees 2014–15

The National Trust relies on the skills and commitment  of over 300 registered volunteers to enable the 
organisation to carry out its role in conserving and  interpreting the heritage of Western Australia.

NTWA volunteers assembled at the Old Observatory, before embarking on a day trip to thank them for their service.



The National Trust relies on the skills and commitment  of over 300 registered volunteers to enable the 
organisation to carry out its role in conserving and  interpreting the heritage of Western Australia.

Volunteers bring community spirit to their  
work with the National Trust embracing ideals of 
giving, caring and sharing for future generations. 
This year, Volunteers contributed over 16,600 
registered hours to the National Trust, at an 
estimated value of about $380,000.

The National Trust recruits and provides training for 
volunteers on an ongoing basis. Induction and training 
programs promote the concept of mutual obligation 
to ensure the needs and expectations of both 
volunteers and the National Trust are fulfilled.

The National Trust recognises the commitment of its 
volunteers through an annual volunteer day held 
during National Volunteers Week, invitations to events, 
awards for length of service and public 
acknowledgements.

The National Trust has 13 committees endorsed by  
the Council. Roles on these committees are filled on  
an honorary basis and provide the organisation with  
a broad and diverse base of knowledge and expertise.  
A comprehensive list of Committees and Volunteers 
can be found in Appendix 2.

It is also a very important fact that all Councillors  
of the National Trust are volunteers. The expertise  
and experience of these extremely dedicated people  
have successfully guided the National Trust in  
Western Australia for over fifty years.

It is particularly fitting to acknowledge and  
thank Officers of the Council, Chairman and  
Deputy Chairman, Officers of the Trust, President,  
Vice Presidents, Treasurer and Secretary as well as 
members of the Executive and the Finance & Audit 
Committee for their commitment.

It is also important to note the many hours of 
additional work which is voluntarily provided by  
staff. This reflects their total commitment to the  
values of the National Trust. 
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Chairman’s Report

On behalf of the Council I offer you all  
our sincere thanks for jobs well done…

It is a great privilege to be Chairman of the 
National Trust of Australia (WA). The job has 
involved a considerable learning curve for me 
and it has heightened my appreciation and 
admiration for the many people who make 
various contributions to the work of the  
National Trust. 

First and foremost among those to whom I am 
indebted for their work is the President of the  
National Trust, Mr Max Kay AM CitWA. I hope I am 
right in thinking we make a good team. Then there 
is my predecessor in the role of Chairman, the Hon 
John Cowdell AM, who represents the National  
Trust on the Australian Council of National Trusts 
and has been a patient mentor for a Chairman  
on trainer wheels.

I pay tribute to our Council of dedicated and  
highly experienced men and women, both elected 
by the members and appointed by nominating 
organisations. I include in the latter category the 
Premier, whose representative on Council and the 
Executive is the Hon Cheryl Edwardes. Members 
should appreciate the fact that the voluntary 
commitment of Councillors and their expertise 
ensures decision – making of a high order.

That brings me to the many volunteers, without 
whose dedication and effort the work of the 
National Trust would simply be unable to be 
performed. I assure you that your contribution is 
highly valued. In addition, of course, there are  
many people and organisations – government, 
non-government, corporations and community 
organisations – who sponsor the work, and partner 
the National Trust in carrying it out. Again, their 
contributions make possible that which would 
otherwise be impossible. 

I do not overlook the skill and effort of the staff of 
the National Trust, whose expertise in various fields 
is of a high order. On behalf of the Council I offer you 
all our sincere thanks for jobs well done, in the 
confident expectation that in times to come we  
will continue to appreciate your work. Finally, I wish 
to pay tribute to Mr Tom Perrigo, who concludes 
some 25 years of dedicated service to the National 
Trust at the end of this year, when he retires as CEO. 
He has played a pivotal role in the development  
and operations of the National Trust and I am 
delighted to be able to say that we may to some 
degree be able to continue to enjoy the benefit  
of his work in the capacity of a consultant engaged 
in the delivery of specific projects.

The National Trust was established in 1959 and  
its status as a charitable, independent trust for 
government and the community was formalised  
by the enactment of the National Trust of Australia 
(WA) Act 1964 over 50 years ago. The Act has been 
little amended since then, certainly not at all as to 
the purposes and functions of the National Trust.  
It remains a most useful statutory vehicle for the 
operations of the National Trust 50 years after its 
enactment. The National Trust has all the powers 
necessary to facilitate the effective pursuit of its 
purpose to conserve, interpret, and where necessary 
adapt, our cultural heritage – historic, natural  
and Aboriginal – and to manage heritage places.  
An important task for the National Trust is to 
educate the community about the on-going 
significance of our heritage to enrich the life of  
the community of WA.

It seems to me to be clear that all involved in the 
work of the National Trust are focused upon the 
purposes that I have described and I wish to close by 
referring to an important aspect of our endeavours 
to enhance our capacity to deliver our objectives. 
The President and I are grateful that we enjoy a 
fruitful relationship with the Minister for Heritage, 
the Hon Albert Jacob MLA, and, through its 
Chairperson, Marion Fulker AM, I have sought to 
develop a relationship of co-operation with the 
Heritage Council and its supporting Department.  
We are currently seeking to agree upon a 
Memorandum of Understanding between the 
National Trust and the Heritage Council to establish 
a process to facilitate joint endeavours when 
appropriate, in the hope that the two agencies, 
working together, will be able to deliver better 
outcomes than they can achieve working separately.

For the National Trust the future will present  
many challenges, but also, I am sure, many  
causes for satisfaction.

Hon Michael Murray AM QC 
Chairman



Irene Stainton 
Councillor

The National Trust of Australia (WA) was 
delighted to appoint Irene Stainton as its  
first Aboriginal Council representative in  
April 2015.

Irene has a long and valued relationship with  
the National Trust as a strong advocate for 
Aboriginal cultural heritage. 

She holds a range of advisory positions at state 
and national levels and brings outstanding 
leadership to the National Trust in her continuing 
role as Chair of its Aboriginal Advisory Committee.

Irene’s commitment to better awareness and 
understanding of Aboriginal cultural heritage 
values delivers reconciliation outcomes to the 
entire community. 

Her expertise will greatly assist the National Trust 
to increase and diversify strategic partnerships 
associated with Aboriginal heritage, while her 
experience continues to benefit National Trust 
projects and programs.

The Hon Dr Ken Michael AC 
Councillor

The National Trust is pleased to welcome  
Dr Ken Michael AC as a member of Council  
and Executive Committee.

Dr Ken Michael AC was installed as the thirtieth 
Governor of Western Australia on 18 January 2006, 
retiring from this position in May 2011. He was 
educated at Highgate Primary School, Perth Boys’ 
School and Perth Modern School. He graduated in 
civil engineering from The University of Western 
Australia and completed his PhD degree at Imperial 
College of Science and Technology in London. 

He has a distinguished career as an engineer  
and has held key leadership positions including 
Commissioner of Main Roads, Chancellor of the 
University of Western Australia and Chairman of  
the WA Museum.

His dedication and contribution to many aspects  
of government, business, academic and community 
activity have been recognised with a number of 
awards including the Member of the Order of 
Australia in 1996 and Companion of the Order of 
Australia in 2006. He continues his support of the 
community in his retirement.

Dr Michael’s contribution to the National Trust, 
through his wealth of experience and knowledge 
across both government and community sectors, 
will be a welcome addition.

The Council

The National Trust of Australia (WA) welcomes  
Ms Irene Stainton and The Hon Dr Ken Michael AC to The Council.
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Michael Murray graduated LLB at 
UWA in 1964. He was appointed as 
Crown Prosecutor for WA in 1973 
(DPP) and as WA Crown Counsel in 
1980. He was appointed a QC in 1984.

In 1990 he was appointed to the 
Supreme Court of WA. He became 
the senior judge of the court and 
from time to time served as Acting 
Chief Justice and Administrator of 
the State. He retired from the  
bench when he turned 70, in 2012. 
He served on the council of the  
Law Society of WA (President in 
1988) and on other professional 
associations. He is a life member  
of the Law Society and the WA  
Bar Association. 

For 9 years he was on the Senate  
of Murdoch University, for 6 years  
as Pro-Chancellor. He now holds  
a position as an Adjunct Professor  
of Law at Murdoch and teaches 
sentencing and parole, and advocacy. 

He is the Parliamentary Inspector  
of the Corruption and Crime 
Commission and Chairman of the 
Supervised Release Review Board 
(juvenile parole). He was awarded 
an AM for service to the law, 
education and the community.  
He is grateful in retirement from the 
bench to have the opportunity to 
pursue his interest in historical and 
environmental preservation as a 
Councillor and member of the 
Executive of the National Trust  
of WA. 

National Trust Member since 1997. 

Hon Michael Murray AM QC  
Councillor 2014, Chairman 2015 
Term expires: 2016 

After a working career of 40 years  
as a partner with lawyers Jackson 
McDonald, Gregory retired from the 
firm at the end of 2013. He practised 
in property, securities and corporate 
areas of the law. 

Gregory has served on various 
university law advisory boards and 
lectured at UWA for more than 20 
years. A past president of the Law 
Society of Western Australia and life 
member of that organisation he 
continues his involvement in several 
of the Society’s committees. He is a 
past board member of the West 
Australian Opera Company of  
which he served as acting Chair. 

National Trust Member since 2005. 

Mr Gregory Boyle  
LLB  
Deputy Chair  
Term expires: 2017 

Mr Max Kay arrived in Perth from 
Scotland in 1967 and soon became 
one of Western Australia’s most sought 
after performers. In January 2001  
Max closed the Civic Theatre to pursue 
other goals, of a community nature,  
by concentrating on various charitable 
causes that he had helped throughout 
his business career and running for the 
City of Perth Council to which he was 
elected. 

In June 2001 Max’s contribution to the 
entertainment and hospitality industry 
was recognized when he was awarded 
the Citizen of the Year for the Arts, 
Culture and Entertainment category.  
In the same year, he was thrilled to 
receive the Premier’s award for 
“Legend of the Hospitality Industry”. 
He earned his highest accolade in 
January 2003 when he was appointed 
a Member of the Order of Australia for 
services to the entertainment industry 
and for charitable works. 

That same year he was proud to be 
one of 1300 Australians to receive the 
Prime Minister’s Centennial Medal.  
Max was always extremely grateful  
to have been awarded The Vietnam 
Logistic Support Medal and a special 
Citation from the Commander of  
the American Defence Force,  
General Abrahams, for his services 
in entertaining troops from both 
countries as an initiative of the 
Australian Government. Max has been 
a tireless worker for the community, 
sitting on many boards and 
committees and devoting time to  
his favourite charities. 

National Trust Member since 2009. 

Mr Max Kay AM CitWA  
President  
Term expires: 2016

The Council



Ms Christine Lewis  
B Ed in Art (UNSW) M Ed Mngmnt 
(UWA) Vice President  
Term expires: 2017 

Christine has been involved with  
the National Trust movement since 
the early 1980s when she first joined 
in New South Wales. She was also a 
Trust member in the ACT where  
she served on the Education and 
Culture Committee from 1987 to 
1990, and worked as a Trust 
volunteer organising Heritage Week 
activities, seminars and conferences.

Christine is a Trust member in 
Western Australia and was 
appointed to the Council in May 
2012. Christine holds the degrees  
of Bachelor of Education in Art 
(UNSW) and Master of Education 
Management (UWA). She is an 
experienced museum and heritage 
professional based in Perth, having 
previously worked for the ACT 
Heritage Committee in Canberra 
(1987–90), and at the Powerhouse 
Museum in Sydney (1990–95). 

She has been employed in a 
curatorial role at the Lawrence 
Wilson Art Gallery (UWA) 1997–8 
and then for ten years as Registrar 
and Manager Assessment and 
Registration at the WA State Office 
of Heritage. Since 2008 she has 
worked and continues to work in 
the area of Aboriginal heritage. 

National Trust Member since 1997. 

Hon John Cowdell AM  
JP BA (Hons) Dip Ed Hon D Litt 
Chairman 2014 Vice President 2015 
Term expires: 2015 

John Cowdell has been a member 
of the Trust for 23 years, having 
served as Chairman, Vice President 
and President. John is a previous 
President of the Legislative Council, 
Chairman of the Regional 
Development Council of WA, 
Chairman of the Peel Development 
Commission, Chairman of the State’s 
175th Anniversary Committee and  
a Councillor of Curtin University. 

John Cowdell is a Patron of the Art 
Deco Society of Western Australia. 
He chaired the National Trust’s 
Kalgoorlie Trades Hall, Lawson 
Apartments and Parliament House 
Appeals and has been closely 
involved with the establishment  
of the John Curtin Prime Ministerial 
Library and the conservation of the 
Curtin Family Home. 

National Trust Member since 1992. 

Mr John Palermo  
Councillor 2014 Treasurer 2015 
Term expires: 2015 

Mr Palermo is a Partner with 
Palermo Chartered Accountants.  
He was a member of the Regional 
Council of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Western Australia 
from 2008–2013 and held the office 
of Chairman in 2013. Mr Palermo 
was also Chairman of the National 
Public Practice Advisory Committee 
and a member of the Council 
Working Group towards the 
successful merger of the New 
Zealand and Australian Institute  
of Chartered Accountants with  
a combined membership of 
approximately 90,000 members. 

Mr Palermo’s areas of expertise  
are in financial and corporate 
accounting and strategic business 
management. He also holds 
positions on a number of  
Not-for-Profit Boards. 

National Trust Member since 2005. 

The Council
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Ms Cogan has worked as a solicitor 
for both government and private 
firms around the world (including 
the legal department of The 
National Trust in the United 
Kingdom). 

In 2005, Ms Cogan retired from the 
State Solicitor’s Office. Ms Cogan  
has served as the Secretary on the 
National Trust Council since 2006 
and is a member of the Executive 
Committee. 

National Trust Member since 2005. 

Ms Helen Cogan  
LLB (UWA) LLB (Wits)  
Secretary  
Term expires: 2017 

A retired General Medical 
Practitioner, Dr Collins has a 48  
year history of service through 
Rotary International having served 
as a Director of the International 
Board and a Trustee of the Rotary 
Foundation. He has also served as 
Chairman of the Medic Alert  
Council of WA, Chairman of the 
Australian Rotary Foundation  
Trust, Commissioner of St John 
Ambulance Volunteer First Aid 
Service, Director of Interplast 
Australia, Director of Australian 
Rotary Health Research Fund and 
Chairman of the Ethics Committee 
of Lighthouse Laboratories. 

In 1991 he was named the WA 
Citizen of the Year for Community 
Service, in 1994 he was made a 
member of the Order of Australia 
and awarded the Australian Medical 
Association Award for Outstanding 
Service to Medicine, in 2001 he  
was awarded the Centenary of 
Federation Medal and in 2007  
was the West Australian Senior 
Australian of the Year. 

National Trust Member since 2008. 

Dr Ken Collins AM CitWA  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2017 

Mr Godfrey is a business finance  
and strategic planning specialist 
with experience across several 
industry sectors. He has worked at 
senior levels in major corporations  
in the finance industry. Mr Godfrey  
is currently working with the 
University of Western Australia  
in a senior project role. 

He was the Trust’s Treasurer,  
is a member of the Trust’s Executive 
Committee and is the Chair of Trust’s 
Finance and Audit Committee. 

National Trust Member since 2007. 

Mr Grant Godfrey  
BEc (Hons) MBA AGIA  
Treasurer 2014, Councillor 2015  
Term expires: 2016 

The Council



Prof. Jenny Gregory AM  
FRHS MPHA MICOMOS BA (Hons) PhD  
Vice President 2014, Councillor 2015 
Term expires: 2016 

Professor Gregory teaches and 
researches in the fields of heritage 
and history at The University of 
Western Australia. She is Director  
of the Centre for WA History and  
has served as Head of the School  
of Humanities (2009–15) and  
Chair of History (2007–08). 

Her contribution to heritage and 
history was recognised when she 
was made a member of the Order  
of Australia (2010), a Champion of 
the Built Environment (2004), by the 
award of a Centenary of Federation 
Medal (2001), and the National 
Trust’s Stirling Award (2011). Former 
Chair of the National Trust of 
Australia (WA) (2007–10) and past 
President (1998–2007), she is also 
past President of the History Council 
of WA (2003–07) and a former 
Director of UWA Press. 

She was Deputy Chair of the 
Australian Council of National Trusts 
(2008–10), and was also a former 
Councillor of the Heritage Council  
of WA. She is presently a member  
of the Australia Day Council (WA). 

National Trust Member since 1989. 

Mr Roger Jennings  
MA (Cantab) EurChem CChem FRSC  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2017 

A retired British Civil Servant and 
Diplomat who worked in the 
government healthcare field with a 
background in quality management 
and science policy, Mr Jennings has 
had a keen interest in architecture, 
design and heritage preservation  
for over forty years and has been a 
member of National Trust 
organisations in the UK, USA,  
Malta and Australia. 

Mr Jennings has been actively 
involved in volunteering with 
several charitable organisations  
for the past twenty years and has 
worked as a volunteer administrator 
with the National Trust of Australia 
(WA) for ten years, and has been a 
member of Council since 2008. 

Over the past six years he has  
been developing and maintaining 
nearly twenty websites for the 
Trust’s Australian Schools National 
Curriculum Programs. 

National Trust Member since 2005. 

Hon Dr Ken Michael AC 
Councillor 2014, A/Deputy Chair 2015 
Term expires: 2015 

Dr Ken Michael AC was installed as the 
thirtieth Governor of Western Australia 
on 18 January 2006, retiring from this 
position in May 2011. 

He was educated at Highgate Primary 
School, Perth Boys’ School and Perth 
Modern School. He graduated in civil 
engineering from The University of 
Western Australia and completed his 
PhD degree at Imperial College of 
Science and Technology in London. 

He served as Commissioner of  
Main Roads and Public Service 
Commissioner. He was Chancellor  
of The University of Western  
Australia, Chairman of the East Perth 
Redevelopment Authority, Chairman 
of the Western Australian Museum 
and a member of the Economic 
Regulation Authority. 

Dr Michael has made a significant 
contribution in many areas, including 
public service, engineering, academia 
and, in general, to the Western 
Australian community. He continues 
his support of the community in  
his retirement. He is currently 
Chairman of the Australian Defence 
Force Assistance Trust and Chairman 
of Broome Future Ltd, as well as being 
involved in other community based 
activities. 

He has received a number of awards 
in recognition of his contribution to 
his profession and the community.  
He was made a Member of the Order 
of Australia in 1996 and Companion  
of the Order of Australia in the  
2006 Australia Day Honours. 

National Trust Member since 2015. 

The Council

17



After serving in the Canadian  
Forces on NATO, peacekeeping  
and program management duties, 
Mr Mitchell was employed in the 
health promotion and aged care 
sector in Western Australia. He has 
been actively involved with National 
Trust governance, properties, 
programs and people for over  
25 years. 

In 2012 he was awarded the 
Heritage Council award for 
outstanding commitment to 
heritage, particularly to fostering  
the growth and sustainability  
of a wide range of heritage 
organisations, and the development 
and promotion of innovative 
projects and practices. He is 
currently the Executive Officer  
of Museums Australia WA and 
Curator of the Army Museum of WA. 

National Trust Member since 1990. 

Colonel (Ret’d) Robert Mitchell  
CFD UE MA GAICD  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2015 

Geoff has been a member of the 
Trust since 2001 and was previously 
a Council member 2002–2005 and  
is a member of the Classifications 
Committee. In everyday life he is 
employed in local government and 
oversees planning, development 
and operation of heritage facilities 
and programs. Other interests 
include the Canning Agricultural 
Society; Coastal Group of 
agricultural societies; Veteran Car 
Club of WA; Council of Motoring 
Clubs of WA and holds positions 
with these. Memberships include 
History Council of WA, RWAHS, 
British Printing Society; and various 
collectors clubs and community 
groups. 

He is a life member of several 
community organisations and has 
been made a Paul Harris Fellow  
by various Rotary Clubs. 

National Trust Member since 2001. 

Mr Geoff Moor  
B.AppSc FPLA  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2016 

Professor Alistair Paterson is past 
Head of the School of Social 
Sciences at the University of 
Western Australia. His research and 
teaching covers cultural contact, 
historical archaeology in maritime 
and terrestrial settings, sheep and 
cattle pastoralism, European 
colonization, historical rock art,  
and archaeological and historical 
methodology. 

Much of his work is now located in 
Western Australia, including regional 
studies of Australia’s Northwest,  
the uses of coast and offshore 
islands in colonial and pre-colonial 
settings (in collaboration with the 
Western Australian Museum), and 
early colonial settlements across  
the state. 

He is past President of the  
Australian Archaeological 
Association (2005–2007), Discipline 
Chair of Archaeology (2010–2012), 
and has been involved with editing 
for, and publishing in, key  
Australian archaeology journals 
including Archaeology in Oceania, 
Australasian Historical Archaeology, 
and Australian Archaeology and  
his latest book is The Millennium  
of Culture Contact, (Left Coast  
Press Inc.). 

National Trust Member since 2010. 

Prof. Alistair Paterson  
BA Melb. PhD Syd.  
Councillor (retired 2014) 

The Council



Ms Irene Stainton  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2015 

Irene Stainton has 30 years’ experience as  
a State Public Servant, where much of that 
time was spent in Executive and Senior 
Management positions. She has an extensive 
background in public housing, welfare 
services and has long been an advocate for 
Aboriginal cultural heritage, holding a series 
of advisory positions at state and national 
levels. 

She was the first Director of Yorganop 
Aboriginal Child Care in Perth, becoming 
secretary of the Secretariat of National 
Aboriginal and Islander Child Care, where  
as an Australian delegate she presented 
discussion papers to the United Nations  
and was a Council member of the National 
Inquiry into the Removal of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander children from their 
Families. 

After leaving the public service, she has been 
employed as the General Manager of one  
of the largest WA based Heritage Consulting 
Companies and is now employed as the 
Senior Aboriginal Affairs Advisor at INPEX. 
She has extensive knowledge in heritage 
and culture and was the first Aboriginal 
person to become Registrar of Aboriginal 
Sites in Western Australia, prior to being 
appointed Chairperson of the Aboriginal 
Cultural Material Committee in the 
Aboriginal Affairs Department. 

Irene serves as a Trustee of the Western 
Australian Museum and is the Chairperson  
of its Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Advisory 
Committee, is a member of the Indigenous 
Advisory Committee of the National 
Museum of Australia, and the Chairperson  
of the National Trust of WA Aboriginal 
Advisory Committee. Irene is a past member 
of the Commonwealth Government’s 
Advisory Committee responsible for the 
repatriation of Indigenous Cultural Material, 
was until recently, the Deputy Chairperson  
of the Aboriginal Lands Trust and is a past 
Finalist in the Telstra Business Woman of the  
Year Awards. 

National Trust Member since 2001. 

Dr Robyn Taylor  
MPHA  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2015 

Dr Taylor works as a historian, art 
curator and heritage consultant.  
Her areas of interest include Western 
Australian history, art, architecture 
and cultural heritage. 

Dr Taylor has served on the Trust 
Council since 1993, and the 
Classification Standing Committee 
since its formation in 1994.  
She was a councillor on the 
inaugural Heritage Council of 
Western Australia from 1991  
to 1993. 

In 2004 she received a Champion 
Award for the Year of Built 
Environment and, in 2005, the 
National Trust’s Stirling Award for 
over 15 years voluntary service.  
In April 2012 she received a ‘High 
Commendation for Outstanding 
Contribution to Heritage by a 
Professional in the Heritage Industry’ 
in the Western Australian Heritage 
Awards. 

National Trust Member since 1982.

Mrs Alice Adamson  
Appointed Councillor – Country 
Women’s Association of Western 
Australia (Retired 2015) 

Mrs Adamson lived in the Eastern 
Goldfields for 35 years and has wide 
knowledge of Aboriginal culture. 
She has worked for Community 
Health in the Wiluna District and 
conducted Aboriginal Education 
classes in health, arts and crafts. 

Mrs Adamson has been an active 
member of the Country Women’s 
Association of Western Australia for 
40 years, is a member of the 
Pastoralist and Grazier’s Association 
and is still involved with the family’s 
farming interests. 

National Trust Member since 2003. 

The Council
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Cheryl Edwardes has a long and 
distinguished career in Western 
Australian politics, serving as the 
State’s Minister for the Environment 
from 1997 to 2001 and the State’s 
first female Attorney General (1993). 
Cheryl Edwardes is currently the 
Chairman of Atlas Iron Ore Limited 
and Vimy Resources Limited. 

National Trust Member since 2015. 

Hon Cheryl Edwardes  
GAICD LLM (UWA 1998), BA (UWA 1988), LLB (UWA 1983), 
Bachelor of Jurisprudence (UWA 1982)  
Appointed Councillor – The Premier’s Representative  
Term expires: 2017 

Dr Errington is an Adjunct Associate 
Professor, previously Head, of the 
Department of Chemistry at Curtin 
University. He has been a member 
of the Royal WA Historical Society 
since 1963 and is currently Vice 
President. He has research interests 
in various aspects of WA history 
– chemistry, early colonial and sport. 
Dr Errington is also a voluntary 
guide at the Round House 
Fremantle, the Old Mill South  
Perth and on Rottnest Island. 

National Trust Member since 2008. 

Dr Steve Errington  
JP BSc (Hons) PhD FRACI MRSC  
Appointed Councillor – The Royal Western 
Australian Historical Society  
Term expires: 2015 

Mr Hipkins is a planner, architect 
and engineer. With a career as a 
consultant and local government 
director, he has experience in 
heritage assessment, conservation 
plan preparation and compilation  
of municipal inventories. Mr Hipkins 
was a foundation member of the 
Swan River Trust, is a past National 
Chairman of the Australian Institute 
of Urban Studies and has held the 
position of Director of Planning at 
the City of Perth. He is currently a 
member of CityVision and is the 
Mayor at the City of Nedlands.

National Trust Member since 1994. 

Mr Max Hipkins  
MSc BTRP BArch DipAdmin  
Appointed Councillor – Western Australian 
Local Government Association  
Term expires: 2015 

The Council



Mrs Jocelyn Mitchell  
Appointed Councillor – The Country 
Women’s Association of WA  
Term expires: 2018 

Jocelyn Mitchell is a native of Mt 
Barker and was educated at St 
Mary’s Church of England School  
in West Perth. She completed the 
Museum Studies Certificate Course 
at Edith Cowan University in 2009. 
Jocelyn has extensive family 
linkages across rural Western 
Australia and is a member of the 
Swan River Pioneers. In her 
professional life, Jocelyn has  
been the PA to senior executives  
in the fields of tertiary education, 
petroleum resources and 
management associations.  
Overseas she has served as an 
elected official on school boards,  
as an administrative officer in  
the Refugee Review Board and 
coordinated women’s resource  
and support centres for military 
dependents. Before her retirement 
in 2013, Jocelyn was the Minutes 
Secretary and was actively involved 
in the programs and advocacy 
issues of CWA for 23 years. She has 
been volunteering for the National 
Trust since 1990. 

National Trust member since 1990. 

Prof. John Stephens  
BArch (Hons1) PhD  
Appointed Councillor – Australian 
Institute of Architects (WA Chapter)  
Term expires: 2017 

An academic in the Department  
of Architecture and Interior 
Architecture at Curtin University, 
John Stephens has taught in 
architectural history, heritage and 
conservation. He has a strong 
background in conservation plans, 
heritage reports and research into 
architecture, landscape and culture. 
Currently he writes on war 
memorials and war commemoration 
and on heritage and community.  
He is a member of the Australia  
Asia Pacific Institute (AAPI) and  
also sits on several National Trust 
committees. He is appointed to  
the Heritage Council of Western 
Australia as the National Trust 
nominee.

National Trust Member since 1990. 

Dr Michael Wheatley  
BSc MSc PhD  
Appointed Councillor – The University of 
Western Australia  
Term expires: 2016 

Dr Wheatley is Director of the SPICE 
project and Director of the Centre 
for Learning Technology at The 
University of Western Australia. 
Michael has extensive experience  
in the development of educational 
multimedia for secondary schools. 
Whilst this is predominantly for 
science disciplines (physics, 
chemistry and biology), it has  
also included heritage, natural 
environment, and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander art and culture.

National Trust Member since 2011.

The Council
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Tom Perrigo has been the 
Chief Executive Officer of 
the National Trust since 
1990. 

Tom has tertiary degrees 
in science and education, 
as well as post tertiary 
qualifications in science 
and management and has 
served on a number of 
boards, committees and 
community bodies,  
at a State, National and 
International level. Tom is 
also a fellow of the 
Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and a 
Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Management.

Tom has over 30 years  
of experience in cultural 
heritage (natural,  
cultural and Aboriginal). 

Enzo Sirna joined the Trust 
in 2001 with over 30 years’ 
experience in education 
and in governing 
community and not-for-
profit organisations.

Enzo was previously a 
Senior Policy Advisor for 
the Minister for Citizenship 
and Multicultural interests 
and a former Head of 
Languages and Director  
of Studies at Penrhos 
College. 

He was awarded a 
Member of the Order  
of Australia in 2004 for 
service to the community 
through education, 
multicultural affairs, 
welfare and the arts.

Enzo is also Chairman of 
the McCusker Alzheimer’s 
Research Foundation.

Pasquo Cirillo has been 
with the Trust since 2004.

Pasquo has over 40 years’ 
experience in public 
sector finance and 
accounting and is a Fellow 
of the Institute of Public 
Accountants.

Pasquo’s experience 
includes financial and 
management accounting, 
cash flow management, 
financial analysis, 
budgeting, forecasting 
and reporting. He is also 
responsible for leases in 
the management of the 
Trust’s property portfolio.

Sarah Murphy joined the 
National Trust in 1999 
having previously held 
training and advisory roles 
with Museums Association 
of Australia and the 
Western Australian 
Museum in addition to 
curatorial positions in a 
divergent range of 
museums. 

With 30 years’ experience 
in cultural heritage Sarah 
has oversight of the 
management and 
conservation of the  
Trust’s heritage property 
portfolio and the 
extensive collections  
of moveable cultural 
heritage. In 2014 she was 
the first in the State to be 
awarded a scholarship to 
attend the prestigious 
Attingham Summer 
School for the Study of the 
English Country House. 

Mr Thomas Perrigo  
BSc BA MSc MA FAIM 
FAICD

Mr Enzo Sirna AM 
BA DipEd MACE 

Mr Pasquo Cirillo  
BBus FIPA DipAcc 

Ms Sarah Murphy  
BA, Grad Dip Mus Stud, MLitt 

Chief Executive 
Officer

Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer and Director 
Education, Administration 
& Heritage Services

Director Finance  
& Audit

Director Conservation 
& Stewardship

Senior Officers



A Legacy of Community Benefit

Tom Perrigo’s outstanding 
commitment to leadership  

of the National Trust of 
Australia (WA) since 1990 has 

seen staff grow from four into 
an organisation of over 30 full time 

staff, part time and casual employees 
and more than 400 volunteers. In 2015, the National Trust 
was responsible for more than one hundred million 
dollars worth of heritage places in Western Australia.

Tom has initiated, led and developed many of the National 
Trust’s programs (in WA and nationally) such as the first 
National Reconciliation Action Plan for the Trust movement, 
numerous Aboriginal Foundations, national guidelines and 
standards for interpretation of heritage places (both 
Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal) and made them freely 
available for the community. Other initiatives included 
management plans for heritage places, curriculum-based 
education programs related to the Trust’s properties and 
national communication programs including a website  
and magazine.

Partnerships with the public and private sector have  
been a priority for Tom. As CEO he has personally  
negotiated partnerships which have resulted in an  
investment in National Trust projects and programs  
of in excess of forty million dollars.

Tom’s outstanding contribution to heritage in Western 
Australia is recognised by others here and overseas. In 2014, 
he was invited to lead a workshop on adaptive re-use as part 
of ‘Queensland Heritage on the Map’ and take part in a three 
week fellowship in the Netherlands by the Institute for 
Housing and Urban Development Studies (IHS) under 
authority of the Cultural Heritage Agency. Notably, this was 
the first time Australia had been invited to take part in this 
international opportunity and Tom secured an additional  
two places to allow the Trust’s senior conservation architects 
to participate in this exclusive education program. 

Tom has made a valued contribution to the heritage sector 
nationally, through sustainable management of heritage 
places, education and interpretation. 

He was responsible for initiating the development of 
interpretation guidelines resulting in the publication of 
‘Sharing Our Stories: Guidelines for Heritage Interpretation’  
in 2007 and ‘We’re a Dreaming Country: Guidelines  
for Interpretation of Aboriginal Heritage’ in 2012.  
These publications are freely available to download  
from the National Trust’s website for community use.

Over the last 25 years, Tom has been invited to present  
over 30 papers to the national and international heritage 
movement. He pioneered exchange programs between the 
National Trust in Western Australia and heritage institutions 
overseas, including English Heritage and the National Trust 
movement in England and Scotland, providing a range of 
professional development opportunities for heritage 
practitioners.

His extensive experience in the heritage industry has directly 
resulted in the success of significant, multi-million dollar 
heritage projects in Western Australia. Particular noteworthy 
examples include Wanslea, 57 Murray Street, Old Perth Boys’ 
School and Stirling House. Each project has delivered extensive 
community benefit.

Tom has been widely involved in the development of  
strategic partnerships with the corporate sector, philanthropic 
organisations, community bodies, all tiers of government as 
well as the tertiary sector. These partnerships have delivered 
the adaptive re-use of neglected State Government heritage 
places, extensive Aboriginal heritage projects and other 
non-Aboriginal heritage programs across the historic and 
natural landscapes. Tom has been actively involved in 
volunteer and board positions in Western Australia for many 
years. In particular, he has been a member of the judging 
panel for the WA Tourism Awards, a member of Australia 
ICOMOS, recently becoming the state representative, and last 
year was named the inaugural Patron of Trails WA, a body 
which oversees hundreds of tracks and trails throughout WA.

Tom has always strongly believed in empowering 
communities and organisations to celebrate and support  
their heritage places. He has created a valued legacy for  
the state and the heritage sector and in retirement from  
the close of 2015, plans to continue his work and volunteer 
efforts to assist, mentor and advise on best practice in the 
heritage industry.

Smoking ceremony at 57 Murray Street. M Poon
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Key Legislation

Administered Legislation

National Trust of Australia (WA) Act 1964

National Trust of Australia (WA) By-Laws. 
14 September, 1972

National Trust of Australia (WA) Rules. Amendment 
No 8. 7 November 2012

Other Key Legislation Impacting on  
the National Trust

Anti-Corruption Act 1988

Auditor General Act 2006

Copyright Act 1968

Disability Services Act 1993

Electoral Act 1907

Equal Opportunity Act 1984

Financial Management Act 2006 

Freedom of Information Act 1992

Government Employees Superannuation Act 1987

Health Act 1911

Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990

Industrial Relations Act 1979

Interpretation Act 1984

Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

Public Interest Disclosures Act 2003

Public Sector Management Act 1994

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

State Records Act 2000

State Superannuation Act 2000

State Supply Commission Act 1991

Trade Practices Act 1974

Volunteer and Food and other Donors  
(Protection from Liability) Act 2002

Workers Compensation Injury Management Act 1981

Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) 
Act 2004

Subsidiaries

The National Trust has no subsidiaries



Significant Issues  
Impacting the Agency

03

While there have been a number of significant 
issues during 2014–2015 the two key issues 
that continue to have impact on the National 
Trust are:

• The need to increase the commitment of stakeholders  
for heritage projects and programs; and

• The increasing requirement for both capital and recurrent 
investment of resources for heritage projects, programs  
and maintenance of places.

Smoke from a mix of resin, Banksia and fresh Peppermint and paperbark leaves fills the spaces of 57 Murray Street. M Poon 25
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Management Framework
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Introduction

Leadership

Governance

Sustainability

Partnerships

Jellyfish in the breeze at Peninsula Farm were hand made by participants of the pilot educational workshop ‘A good Smack’. G Pickering



Introduction

The National Trust’s four key strategic objectives  
are leadership, governance, sustainability and 
partnerships. 

The National Trust’s commitment to excellence is 
focused on how it can increase both effectiveness 
and efficiency through the delivery of programs, 
projects and services based on these objectives. 

Leadership

• The National Trust has played a significant role,  
at a state and national level, in the development 
and delivery of schools education programs 
linked to the Australian Curriculum which 
emphasises the valuing of heritage; 

• The National Trust has been a leader in the 
promotion, development and delivery of 
programs and projects which highlight the 
significance and importance of Aboriginal 
heritage; 

• The National Trust has been a leader in the 
development of national website and 
communications policies for National Trusts  
in Australia; 

• The National Trust is committed to ongoing 
research and evaluation into the identification 
and measurement of the social, environmental 
and economic outcomes of its key programs  
and projects; and 

• The National Trust has been a leader in the 
conservation and interpretation of Western 
Australia’s heritage. This is reflected in the quality 
of its service delivery and the quality outcomes  
of its major projects. 

Governance

• As a trust for both the Government and the 
community, the National Trust is recognised for  
its strong commitment to good governance  
and its sound financial management; 

• The National Trust is able to provide major 
benefits to government and to the community 
through the effective and efficient delivery of  
its strategic plan; 

• The National Trust adheres to strict financial  
and audit requirements (including independent 
internal and external audits); 

• The National Trust strictly adheres to Public Sector 
requirements; and 

• The National Trust is accountable for all  
its services. 

Sustainability

The National Trust is focused on obtaining 
sustainable outcomes for all its major projects.  
These include: 

i.  57 Murray Street, the former home to a range of 
government departments that operated from 
1912 to the 1990s, including Public Health and 
Medical Department and Department of 
Aborigines and Fisheries, leased to Curtin 
University to be used as its Law School;

ii.  Wanslea, reopened as a Cancer Wellness Centre 
(generously supported by Lotterywest) thanks to 
major conservation works and adaptive re-use;

iii.  Stirling House, re-used by the Schools of Early 
Learning following significant conservation 
works and upgrade of services;

iv.  Old Perth Boys’ School, leased to Curtin University 
to be used as an Alumni Office;

v.  Whitby Falls Farm, leased to Murdoch University 
to be used as a Veterinary School;

vi.  The creation and sustainability of major 
Aboriginal Foundations to facilitate the 
conservation, protection and interpretation  
of Aboriginal cultural values.

Partnerships

The National Trust values the significance of its  
many partnerships which allows it to commit to 
projects and programs which enrich the State’s 
cultural heritage.

These partnerships allow for government, local 
government, private, corporate and community 
engagement which enhance the significant values 
and benefits of Western Australia’s heritage.

27



Agency  
Performance

05

Major Projects

Nationally Significant Projects

Western Australian Projects

Natural Heritage

Education and Learning

Interpretation

Archaeology

Heritage

Public Programs

Communication

Partnerships

(L–R) Conservation gardener Mike Harvey with volunteers Seonaid MacKay  
and Ruth Harloe at Old farm Strawberry Hill, Albany. G Pickering



Old Farm, Strawberry Hill

Planning for a program of works to rehabilitate the 
creek and lake at Old Farm, Strawberry Hill has 
begun. In the coming year the Oyster Harbour 
Catchment Group will lead the project and provide 
some funding. Southern Guardians Pty Ltd has also 
made significant contributions to the project that will 
restore ecological function to the waterway which is 
also part of the City’s drainage system. Aboriginal 
land care students from the Great Southern Institute 
of Technology will provide assistance and participate 
in cross cultural awareness programs. The City of 
Albany will also provide in kind support.

The Jack Family Charitable Trust has provided funding 
for the planning and implementation of a heritage 
orchard at Old Farm, Strawberry Hill following a 
recommendation from the 2012 Master Plan. 
Research has revealed fruit trees have been planted 
there since it was a Government farm in 1827 so  
this new orchard will form an important interpretive 
element in the landscape. 

Major Projects

It will provide opportunities for community 
involvement in a range of activities and workshops 
associated with the orchard. Planning work has been 
completed this financial year and implementation 
will begin in spring 2015.

In 2014 the Australian Garden History Society held  
its national conference in Albany. The National Trust 
welcomed delegates to Old Farm, Strawberry Hill  
at what proved to be one of the highlights. 

Stirling House

Conservation, interpretation and adaptive re-use 
works enabled Stirling House to be opened as the 
North Fremantle School of Early Learning in 2014.  
The completed project received a Conservation 
Heritage Award from the City of Fremantle in May 
2015. The Conservation Heritage Awards celebrate 
the success of owners, architects and builders who 
have recently completed a restoration/renovation  
of a heritage building or an infill development in a 
heritage streetscape and contribute to the social 
heritage of Fremantle and North Fremantle.

Australian Garden History Society conference delegates Richard Heathcote (SA) & Patsy Vizents (WA) at Old Farm, Strawberry Hill. S Murphy
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Artillery Drill Hall

The National Trust has signed a lease with Fremantle 
based company Sunset Events that plans to revive 
this significant property as a live music venue and 
tavern. Subject to successful approval of a liquor 
licence, the project will be collaborative, with the 
National Trust committing significant funding for 
conservation and services upgrades. Interpretation  
of the site’s history has helped inform decisions on 
the future use of the place and will be integrated 
within the fit out. It is anticipated the venue will be 
open in mid-2016. In the meantime, Penny Lanes 
Music Workshop is leasing various spaces within the 
1941 office building, including utilising the ‘gun room’ 
(also 1941) as a band practice space. 

York Courthouse Complex

The generosity of Lotterywest, on behalf of the 
community, has enabled re-roofing of the 1874 
Courthouse, the last portion of the Complex to be 
re-shingled following a program of replacement  
over several years. Upgraded interpretation signage 
has also been installed.

Updated Management Signage  
at Properties

New information and directional signage has been 
designed and is ready for installation at Old Farm, 
Strawberry Hill, Peninsula Farm and East Perth 
Cemeteries. A suite of standard management signs 
has been prepared reflecting the new corporate style 
and will be rolled out to all properties over time.

Avondale

It has been a busy year at Avondale with the 
completion of works to upgrade the picnic area;  
new gutters and a toilet upgrade for the Laboratory 
building; and a new roof and conservation works to 
the 1898 stables building. This latter project was 
undertaken as a training course over a two week 
period with prisoners from Wooroloo. Works to 
rehabilitate the bush reserve have been assisted  
by a National Resource Management grant.

Major Projects

Significant text found on doors at the Artillery Drill Hall,  
to be incorporated in interpretation elements. K Lomas

The large curved roof of the Artillery Drill Hall give the space an 
enormous volume, to be utilised by Sunset Events. K Rippingdale



Major Projects

1898 stables building reroofing in progress. E Hancock 31



Major Projects

Phil Collard carries the smouldering foliage at the Old Observatory smoking ceremony during Reconciliation Week. M Poon



Reconciliation 

The National Trust’s Reconciliation Action Plan has 
been thoroughly reviewed with the aim of moving 
the Trust towards integrating reconciliation into the 
day to day activities of the organisation. The new  
RAP will come into operation early 2016.

A smoking ceremony was held in and around  
57 Murray Street, Perth on 10 October 2014 to 
cleanse the place, its energy, and the strong 
emotions associated with policies and practices 
enacted from the former offices of the Department 
of Aborigines and Department of Native Affairs.

A series of smoking ceremonies, led by  
Noongar Elder Neville Collard, was implemented  
at metropolitan properties including Peninsula  
Farm and the Old Observatory. In addition to this 
activity all staff and Councillors of the National  
Trust were given the opportunity to tour National  
Trust properties with Neville Collard to better 
understand the places we manage from an 
Aboriginal perspective.

The work of the Trust with Aboriginal people is 
supported by the Aboriginal Reference Working 
Group, Chaired by Irene Stainton, the first Aboriginal 
member of a National Trust Council in Australia. 

The National Trust  
has continued to  
develop and expand its 
reconciliation program 
throughout the year. 

Major Projects

Trust councillor, Irene Stainton, speaks at the  
Old Observatory smoking ceremony. M Poon

A variety of leaves from native plants were collected for  
the smoking ceremonies. M Poon
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Major Projects

Wanslea Cancer Wellness Centre was recognised at the 2015 UNESCO Asia – Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage Conservation.  
Robert Frith / Acorn Photo



Wanslea

In 2015 Wanslea was awarded the Gerry Gauntlett 
Award by the State Heritage Office for conservation 
or adaptive re-use of a state registered place. 

The judges’ citation described:

A very good community-based project that is 
considerate of the past while incorporating 
contemporary elements, bringing this historic 
building back to life. Five heritage buildings were 
conserved and refurbished for contemporary use, 
facilities enhanced with new buildings, with the 
landscaping creating a peaceful and pleasant 
environment for people affected by cancer.

Wanslea represents an example of current best 
practice conservation methods, processes and 
procedures coming together and achieving a 
functional and economically sustainable outcome. 
Interpretation of the significant values of the place 
has been included to ensure visitors and staff have 
access to information about the changing uses of  
the place.

The Cancer Wellness Centre project at Wanslea has 
also been awarded the Margaret Pitt Morison Award 
for Heritage in the WA Architecture Awards heritage 
category.

Major Projects

Library resource facilities. Robert Frith / Acorn Photo

 
Bannister and stained glass detail.  
Robert Frith / Acorn Photo

 
New construction,  access and courtyard landscaping. Robert Frith / Acorn Photo
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Nationally Significant Projects

The National Trust is centralising Golden Pipeline data. D Frylinck



Goldfields Water  
Supply Scheme (GWSS)

The National Trust has been successful in 
its application for ‘Protecting our National 
Historic Sites’ funding of $734, 290 over three 
years for conservation and interpretation of 
the nationally listed Goldfields Water Supply 
Scheme (GWSS).

The project aims to continue conservation and 
interpretation of the GWSS along its 560km length 
between Mundaring Weir and Kalgoorlie. It is 
divided into three parts: the conservation and 
interpretation of No 8 Pump Station 50km west  
of Coolgardie (the most intact of the scheme), the 
upgrading and installation of public information 
along the trail, and the development of an online 
public education and learning program. 
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Bill Sewell Complex

Works to the verandahs of the hospital buildings at 
Bill Sewell have continued with conservation of the 
Crowley and Campbell House verandahs; the latter 
undertaken as a training project with Greenough 
Regional Prison.

Central Greenough

In July 2014, a pilot stone conservation training 
project was successfully completed at Cliff Grange, 
Greenough. The two week project utilised trainers 
from Applied Building Conservation Training Pty Ltd 
with 16 participants from Greenough Regional Prison 
and saw removal of inappropriate cement mortar 
and renders from the stone building and 
replacement with lime based finishes.

Western Australian Projects

Completed Crowley House verandah at Bill Sewell Complex, Geraldton. L Molgaard, Nordic Builders



Gallop House

Funding has been approved by the Feilman 
Foundation to comprehensively conserve,  
upgrade and interpret Gallop House for future  
use as a proposed Composer-in-Residence facility.  
The project will honour the significant work of sisters, 
Margaret and Patricia Feilman, particularly in the 
areas of natural and cultural heritage. Work is 
expected to be completed in the 2015/16 year.

Luisini Winery

Conservation works were completed in 2014, 
including graffiti removal, stone repointing, timber 
replacement, minor cladding replacement and a 
sewer connection. Also installed was new fencing, 
external lighting and security system. 
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Royal Perth Hospital Heritage Precinct 

Due diligence investigations have been ongoing  
to determine the likely condition of services and 
possibility of contamination across this site to  
provide information for any future use options  
should the hospital no longer require these buildings. 
In addition, Dutch heritage planner Frank Buchner,  
with support from the Netherlands Cultural Heritage 
Agency, spent 12 weeks with the Trust in 2015 
preparing a heritage planning study of the precinct 
and its environs.

Royal George Hotel

After many years of negotiation with various 
developers and both local and state governments 
regarding future use of the Royal George,  
the National Trust Council has agreed to return  
the property to the State. The National Trust has  
also indicated its willingness to continue to act  
as heritage advisers for this project for any future 
development. 

Samson House

Lotterywest funding has enabled replacement of 
roofing to the verandahs and tower at Samson House 
along with remedial work to portions of the brick 
walls. Volunteer sessions with the Australian Garden 
History Society have commenced conservation of 
the 1940s rock water garden.

Whitby Falls

Murdoch University has prepared a preliminary  
draft master plan for the site that remains under 
discussion. Following the success of the Greenough 
stone conservation project, a similar project was 
undertaken to repair severe cracking of several 
c1930s stone buildings associated with the former 
chicken run, training up to 15 prisoners from  
nearby Karnet Prison.

Christmas Island

The National Trust has acted as consultant  
architects for upgrade of the Administrator’s  
house on the island.

Western Australian Projects

Before and after masonry works were completed by prisoners  
on former poultry buildings at Whitby Falls. E Hancock



Natural Heritage

Endangered Carnaby’s cockatoo preening on covenanted land. P Murphy

Covenants

National Trust covenanted properties for  
2014–2015 were predominantly in the south west 
of the state. The general quality of the bushland 
offered by owners was considered sufficiently high 
in conservation value to comply with the Trust’s 
conservation standards.

The Trust continues to work with the Western 
Australian Planning Commission and the 
Department of Parks and Wildlife to assist property 
owners, and the property development profession 
in the various subdivision processes where the 
Trust can offer support.

Whilst most of the covenanting activity followed 
land subdivision applications by owners, the Trust 
was also successful in assisting a miner of mineral 
sands in the South West comply with quite 
complex State and Federal mining and 
environmental requirements for off-sets.

The Trust also worked with the Office of State 
Revenue to clarify exemptions from State Land  
tax available to owners of covenanted land.

The National Trust currently has 178 covenants 
over 252 lots with a cumulative total bushland  
of over 18,166 hectares.

Stewardship

The National Trust Stewardship Program is an 
integral part of the Trust Conservation Covenanting 
Program, as it plays an important role in making 
sure our 160 plus covenanters receive ongoing 

support in managing their protected bushland. 
This requires a Trust Conservation Officer to visit 
the covenanted bushland every 3 years to discuss 
with the covenanter better means and ways of 
managing the land for its long-term conservation, 
heritage and cultural values.

As part of the Trust’s commitment to make sure  
its covenanter’s needs are met, during 2014–2015, 
Trust conservation officers visited over 30 
properties throughout the South West of  
Western Australia.

Parkwater, Cowaramup

2014–2015 has seen a substantial number of new 
houses built at Parkwater and new families moving 
in. Building continues at a rapid rate and so the 
number of residents living in the area will continue 
to rise. This has had a benefit to the National Trust 
bushland as there are now more people interested 
in utilising the trails and wanting to be involved in 
maintaining the bushland.

The National Trust facilitated the reformation of the 
Parkwater Community Group (PCG) earlier this 
year, and it now has a dedicated, group of residents 
involved in the decision making process for the 
management of the bushland, as well as other local 
matters. In May 2015 the National Trust also hosted 
a Revegetation and Bushland Management 
workshop which was deemed a great success.
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Education and Learning

Monet Simmons’ Sunset at Cottesloe Beach, winning photo in the Year 4–6 Category of the Photo and Story Competition. M Simmons



The number of students  
visiting National Trust 
properties, to participate 
in Education & Learning 
programs developed for 
the Australian Curriculum, 
continues to grow. 
Teachers who have previously been involved, 
return regularly and recommend our programs  
to others, with high praise for the quality  
and delivery.

Year 5 teachers take advantage of flexible National 
Trust options for their students studying the Swan 
River Colony. Visits to Peninsula Farm and/or East 
Perth Cemeteries can be combined with visits to  
the State Library and/or visits to the Art Gallery  
of Western Australia. Collaboration with the  
State Library of Western Australia resulted in a 
professional development opportunity for teachers. 
This included an evening tour of the Cemeteries 
that was well attended. The National Trust education 
team provided additional input to further enhance 
activities at East Perth Cemeteries for both the joint 
Art Gallery and State Library programs.
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No 1 Pump Station has attracted increased 
visitation. The Water Corporation has completed 
recent landscape works and students are enjoying 
the new picnic facilities during their visits to learn 
about the Goldfields Water Supply Scheme.  
No 1 volunteers kindly assist with these school 
visits. A National Trust staff member again 
participated in the Children’s Groundwater  
Festival to describe the incredible story of 
delivering water from the coast to the desert.

Ongoing development of education programs 
aligned with the Australian Curriculum, such as 
collating information, is supported by public 
programs for families and adults during school 
holidays and specific events. Seniors Week 2014 
and a partnership with the City of Fremantle 
resulted in a highly successful afternoon tea  
and tour of Samson House in Fremantle.

Education and Learning staff organised and 
participated in some of the events offered during 
the Heritage Festival such as ‘A First Family of 
Fremantle’ at Samson House during which they 
conducted tours. A lecture by Dr Lenore Layman  

at East Perth Cemeteries entitled ‘Misfortune, 
Misadventure and Murder: sudden deaths at the 
start of the Swan River Colony’ was well received.

The moving presentation ‘From Guildford to 
Gallipoli’, the story of the Harper brothers of 
Woodbridge who served in the 10th Light Horse, 
was appropriately offered during the Festival,  
2015 being the anniversary of the ANZAC  
landing, as well as on the closest Sunday to 
Remembrance Day.

The National Trust’s ‘Valuing Our Heritage Photo & 
Story and Multimedia Competition’ marked its 10th 
anniversary in 2014. The Bell Tower and beaches,  
a civic centre and a shed that is now a theatre  
were places students chose to feature in this 
competition aimed at encouraging them to 
appreciate Western Australia’s natural and  
built heritage. 

The winning students were acknowledged at  
an awards ceremony held at the National Trust’s 
headquarters at the Old Observatory in West Perth 
in November 2014. In the multimedia category, 

Education and Learning

Young author Lil-Jasmine Miller receives a thank you from National Trust CEO Tom Perrigo. G Pickering



for the first time, a general commendation was 
given to a whole class because of its outstanding 
work which showed a good understanding of 
heritage and its importance to their community.  
In the Year 4–6 photo section the judge could not 
separate joint winners.

National Trust staff showcased programs at the 
annual Early Years in Education conference held at 
the Pan Pacific Hotel in May. Another presentation 
was made at the annual Catholic Education 
Conference held at the Perth Convention and 
Exhibition Centre. Edith Cowan University and 
Notre Dame University invited education staff  
to present lectures to under-graduate and post-
graduate education students. This supported their 
learning as pre-service teachers and contributed to 
the promotion of our properties and programs. 

The National Trust of Australia (WA) maintained  
its role as the lead Trust in Australia coordinating 
education schools, public and interactive programs 
linked to National Trust places and to other 
nationally significant heritage places or events. 

A highly successful national education workshop 
was held in April. The workshop highlighted the 
excellence of the programs thus far, as well as 
establishing future priorities and goals.

The National Trust, in partnership with Edith  
Cowan University, continued to develop 
‘Trailblazer’, a software framework application 
using modern mobile devices to support and 
enhance interactive multi-modal learning. 

The National Trust continues to support the 
promotion of history through competitions for 
children with sponsorships for the National History 
Competition facilitated by the Australian Council of 
National Trusts and the Now and Then competition 
for the towns of Cottesloe, Mosman Park and 
Peppermint Grove. 

There were 12,683 participants in schools and 
public education programs for 2013–2014.  
10,723 were directly related to schools programs 
associated with the Australian Curriculum.

Education and Learning

L–R Councillor Helen Cogan with Education A/Coordinator Chantelle Daniels Monet Simmons at the 2014 Photo and Story competition. G Pickering 

45



Interpretation

Whadjuk Elder Neville Collard leads the ceremony through the east side gate used by Aborigines at 57 Murray Street. M Poon



57 Murray Street

Curtin University has signed a lease and taken 
possession of 57 Murray St for its long term use as  
a Law School. Fit out for this use is in the planning 
stages and anticipated to be completed by the end 
of 2015.

As part of the ongoing commitment to interpretation 
of the values of the place, new content was 
developed for the 57 Murray Street website 
including 35 new audio visual stories. Interviews 
were conducted with specialists in health and 
Aboriginal affairs. The stories include recollections 
and images from staff from 57 Murray Street and 
the Aboriginal community.

A smoking ceremony was held at 57 Murray Street 
entitled Barnam Warra Kartaga Longa Koort 
Boomgur (Clearing away bad memories pressed to  
the heart) and a documentary made. It is available 
via YouTube through a link on the 57 Murray Street 
website. 

Old Perth Boys’ School 

Curtin University has also signed a lease for the  
Old Perth Boys’ School to be used as an alumni 
office in the city. Tenders have been received for 
internal conservation and fit out work with an 
anticipated completion by Christmas. The National 
Trust will also undertake interpretation of the  
place for integration within Curtin’s fit out.

East Perth Cemeteries

The Department of Culture and Arts has awarded 
the National Trust a substantial grant for an artist in 
residence in 2015/16. “Music is the Window to the 
Soul” is a project aimed at attracting new audiences 
to East Perth Cemeteries. A group of early career 
classical guitarists will develop a repertoire that 
responds to the place. The residency will culminate 
in the creation of an original composition. All works 
will be performed live in concerts in the Chapel and 
available as podcasts that will continue to interpret 
the Cemeteries.
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Peninsula Farm

The National Trust has managed the property on 
behalf of the community since 1977 and it has 
been known as either Tranby or Tranby House.

Following recommendations from both the 
Conservation and Interpretation Plans for the 
place, the name has now been changed to 
Peninsula Farm. Referring to the property as a 
whole rather than just the house, the name 
encapsulates the geographic location of the  
place and its role as one of the early colonial  
farms. This broader focus provides greater 
opportunities for interpreting and understanding 
the considerable significance of this heritage place.

A review of the presentation of the house at 
Peninsula Farm highlighted the need for an 
orientation exhibition in the reception area. 
Extracts from diaries and letters, copies of 
documents and actual artifacts belonging to the 
Hardey family give visitors a glimpse into their  
lives as they voyaged to Australia and became 
established at Peninsula Farm. Seasonal changes  
to the interior are gradually being introduced so  
as better to reflect different uses of the house  
and responses to the seasons.

In late 2014 landscape works were completed 
allowing universal access to the house and tea 
rooms via an upgraded entry pathway. Circa 1970s 
paving bricks have been replaced with stabilised 
gravel giving the 1839 house a more appropriate 
context and rural type setting. New bin storage 
areas have been installed and new management 
signage complements this work.

Interpretation

Mark Welsh, Fabrik exhibition designer & Gina Pickering, interpretation officer 
discuss the Peninsula Farm orientation exhibition. S Murphy

Peninsula Farm. S Murphy



Interpretation

Mark Welsh from Fabrik prepares to install an interpretive panel at Peninsula Farm. S Murphy 49



Archaeology

2014–2015 saw the completion of the final stage 
(Stage 3) of the project. Ongoing collaboration 
with UWA Archaeology staff, as part of a MOU 
signed with the University, has resulted in a 
range of research projects and other initiatives 
being undertaken at Trust properties. 

These include:

• Completion of a pilot archaeological research 
project with Dr Sean Winter, ‘Investigating the 
Archaeological Potential of Western Australia’s 
Early Buildings.’ The work has included an 
archaeological assessment of Old Farm, 
Strawberry Hill; Woodbridge; St Bartholomew’s 
Chapel at East Perth Cemeteries; and Peninsula 
Farm.

• Commencement of research for a PhD in the  
UWA Archaeology Department by Melissa 
Hetherington who aims to investigate key 
National Trust sites at Greenough.

• Ongoing research of the archaeological 
assemblage from Old Farm, Strawberry Hill 
(excavated by UWA in 2012) as part of an 
Archaeology Honours thesis by Callum Forsey 
which is due to be completed in December 2015.

Three UWA Masters of Professional Archaeology 
students – Varteny Boyadjan, Kate Robertson and 
Ross Bertinshaw – have also completed internships  
at the National Trust. 

From 2012–2015 funding received 
from Lotterywest enabled the 
National Trust to carry out an 
Archaeological Scoping Study  
of key properties to centrally 
document both archaeological 
investigations carried out  
at these properties and the 
associated archaeological 
collections held. 

Varteny Boyadjan assisting in the delivery of the Trust’s  
Digging up the Past education program at Old Farm, Strawberry 
Hill, April 2015. L Brass

UWA Archaeologist Dr Sean Winter and Trust Archaeologist 
Leanne Brass at St Bartholomew’s Chapel East Perth Cemeteries.



Archaeology and Education Programs

As part of WW1 celebrations in Albany to 
commemorate the centenary of the departure of 
troops from King George Sound, an ‘Open Day’ was 
held at Old Farm, Strawberry Hill on Sunday 2nd 
November 2014. Garden tours and archaeological 
activities for children were available to visitors 
throughout the day.

Three ‘Digging up the Past’ school holiday workshops 
were held at Old Farm, Strawberry Hill as part of  
the National Trust Heritage Festival in April 2015.  
The workshops were booked out and feedback  
about the program was very positive.

A proposal for an Archaeology Education and 
Learning Program for primary schools which includes 
online program components and an archaeology 
resource box for loan to schools has also been 
developed. The program focusses on recent 
archaeological investigation undertaken at Trust 
properties, in particular Old Farm, Strawberry Hill and 
Old Perth Boys’ School and highlights why people 
study archaeology and what can be learned from 
studying a place through its found objects. It will be 
further developed with Trust Education staff for trial 
in 2015–2016.

Ross Bertinshaw at the Trust’s offices assisting with the compilation 
of archaeological data related to Trust properties. L Brass

Kate Roberston at St Bartholomew’s Chapel, assisting with 
archaeological fieldwork as part of the Investigating the 
Archaeological Potential of Western Australia’s Early Built 
Environment Project. G Pickering

Digging up the Past school holiday workshop at Old Farm, 
Strawberry Hill, April 2015. 51



Heritage

Heritage Services

The team is responsible for the preparation of 
submissions on behalf of the National Trust, including 
management and planning policies, documents for 
state departments and local government authorities, 
as well as proposed developments for significant 
heritage places. This is an important role which 
contributes to our objective of working to ‘raise 
knowledge, awareness, understanding and 
commitment to Western Australia’s natural, 
Aboriginal and historic heritage’. As a representative 
of the community, team involvement in the 
development of statutory plans or decisions  
ensures pertinent heritage issues are considered.

Heritage Appeals

The conservation aspects of the Heritage Appeals 
program were internally reviewed by Heritage 
Services staff in late 2014/early 2015. Updated 
processes and procedures have been developed  
and approved by Council along with aims to increase 
the promotion of this service, encourage supportive 
partnerships with appeal organisation and 
implement the capacity for online donations.  
The National Trust appeals program directly  
benefits community groups by providing a means  
to fundraise, with 100% of tax deductible donations 
benefitting the conservation of heritage places. 

A number of new appeals were established in  
the past year, including:

• St Columba’s Church, South Perth

• St Cuthbert’s Church, Darlington

• St John’s Anglican Church, Fremantle

• St Peter’s Church, Gilgering

• Temple David Congregation Inc.

Community Support

Development of Memoranda of Understanding, 
representation on advisory groups and provision  
of advice are some of the actions undertaken by 
Heritage Services in support of the community.  
As well as working with external groups, the Heritage 
Services Department has undertaken a stronger role 
in the provision of heritage research, reports and 
advice for internal departments, particularly 
Conservation and Stewardship. This has included 
development of a comprehensive Conservation 
Management Plan for Samson House in Fremantle 
and involvement in a study on the Royal Perth 
Hospital Heritage Precinct. Projects such as these take 
advantage of the professional expertise of National 
Trust staff resulting in cost effective and 
comprehensive outcomes.

Heritage Records

Heritage Services holds a wealth of information 
about heritage places (historic, natural and cultural) 
in this state. These records date back to the early 
1960s and are an invaluable resource. These records 

Temple David. L Sturis

Heritage Services 
continues its ongoing  
role in advocacy, research, 
policy and development  
of best practice in the 
heritage sector.



have gradually been digitised to allow increased 
access and, over the past 12 months, this program 
has advanced considerably due to the efforts of 
volunteer staff. Graeme Gerrans has been responsible 
for personally scanning almost 8,000 photographs 
and several hundred heritage assessments and is 
now digitising other heritage records including 
geological monument reports. This will not only 
allow the National Trust to make these records  
more accessible but is also essential to the proper 
management and conservation of these properties.

Technical Committees

Heritage Services supports the operation of the 
Classification Standing Committee, Art Deco 
Committee and the Defence Heritage Committee. 
These volunteer committees provide invaluable 
assistance with heritage issues and continue to work 
on individual heritage projects and assessments, 
from lighthouses to landscapes. 

New Publications

As part of the National Trust’s role as an education 
institution, we aim to support the publication of 
works related to our state’s history and heritage.  
The Trust has been working with the Art Deco 
Society of WA Inc. in publishing Pictures Palaces of 
the Golden West. Due for completion in the coming 
months, this book provides a comprehensive and 
entertaining history of cinemas in Western Australia. 
The National Trust acknowledges the assistance and 
support of local libraries and collecting institutions 
who have contributed images for the publication;  
in particular the State Library of Western Australia.

St Cuthbert’s Church. L Sturis

Classified Places

Temple David

Temple David including the temple, office (fmr 
residence), social hall and surrounding gardens  
has cultural heritage significance for the following 
reasons:

• The Temple David is a good example of Late 
Twentieth-Century Ecclesiastical architecture.

• Temple David demonstrates the impact that  
the Progressive Jewish community had on the 
Western Australian community, particularly after 
WWII when the influx of Central and Eastern 
Europeans greatly increased the Jewish 
population in this state.

• Temple David is associated with prominent 
architect Harold Boas a founding member of the 
congregation and designer of the synagogue.

• Temple David is highly valued by members of the 
Progressive Jewish community.

• The construction of the Temple David synagogue 
has been made possible through donations and 
bequests from the Progressive Jewish community 
as well as through repatriated funds from WWII.

Roman Catholic Church Group

The Roman Catholic Church Group, Toodyay, has 
cultural heritage significance for the following 
reasons:

• The place is an excellent representative example 
of a group of buildings designed for religious and 
educational purposes;

• The place has landmark value as an imposing 
group of buildings within the townscape of 
Toodyay;

• The place is significant for the history of 
education and religion in Toodyay. The place  
was used for educational purposes from 1902 to 
1983 following the arrival of the Sisters of Mercy, 
the first religious order in Australia dedicated to 
teaching.

• The buildings are representative of a number  
of architectural styles from the mid-19th Gothic 
(St John the Baptist church, 1863), Victorian 
Georgian (‘The Ship’), Federation Queen Anne 
(Mercy House), Inter-war Arts & Crafts  
(frm Presbytery) Inter-war Georgian Revival 
(O’Connor House), and late Twentieth Century 
Ecclesiastical (St John the Baptist church, 1963).

• The place is associated with the prominent 
Connor (O’Connor) family, benefactors of the 
Convent and church, and major landowners in 
central Perth.
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Public Programs

Rose Pruning at Samson House

The annual July rose pruning event at Samson  
House ensured the heritage roses had their annual 
maintenance and a new band of gardeners honed 
their rose pruning skills. Lee Beavis of Dewsons 
Garden World in Swanbourne volunteered her time 
to guide 25 enthusiastic participants who enjoyed a 
tour of the house before their toil and a rewarding 
afternoon tea afterwards.

Curtin Family Home Guest Curator Program

One hundred and seventy-four people attended 
various events in this year’s Curtin Family Home 
annual Guest Curator program in September. 
Historian Elizabeth Hoff provided intimate glimpses 
into the lives of John and Elsie through their letters, 
diary entries and newspaper articles in a series of 
talks and tours at the house. There was also an open 
day including audio tours and children’s games. 

In lieu of the traditional lecture as part of the 
program, 65 guests were entertained by a light-
hearted, witty and fast paced cabaret, Prime Time,  
at the State Library on 22 October, written and 
performed by Shortis and Simpson (John Shortis  
and Moya Simpson) from Canberra.

Trust councillor Alice Adamson read a poem written by  
Helen Bignell (right). Helen’s poem One hundred years written  
to commemorate the Anzac Centenary through poetry in a 
competition run by ABC Great Southern in November 2014. A Brake

Didgeridoo player at the Peninsula Farm Christmas Carols. E Hancock

The grounds of Peninsula Farm make an ideal setting for picnics 
at the Christmas carols event. E Hancock

The annual rose pruning event at Samson House creates 
important links into the community as well as maintaining  
the health of the heritage roses.



CY O’Connor Lecture

The annual CY O’Connor Lecture focused on 
Australia’s international competitiveness in  
research and technology. Prof Deborah Terry,  
Vice-Chancellor of Curtin University, delivered the 
lecture on 3 March at Curtin University’s Bentley 
campus where attendees were also able to enjoy an 
exhibition in John Curtin Gallery prior to the lecture. 
Prof Terry also delivered the lecture at the University’s 
Kalgoorlie campus on 4 March. 

Old Farm, Strawberry Hill Open Day

Children (and adults) were encouraged to be 
archaeologists for the day as part of the Old Farm 
open day program on 2 November. There were tours 
of the grounds and free entry to the house. The event 
was part of the extensive program of activities in 
Albany held for the centenary of the departure of the 
fleet of ships carrying troops to the battlefields of the 
First World War. 

National Trust Vice President Christine Lewis, Professor Deborah 
Terry and Interpretation Manager Anne Brake at the 2015 CY 
O’Connor Lecture. G Pickering

Curtin University Vice Chancellor Professor Deborah Terry 
describes the transition from traditional university campus to 
integrated precincts at the CY O’Connor Lecture. G Pickering

Budding archaeologists at the Old Farm,  
Strawberry Hill Open Day, November 2014. K Rippingdale

Budding archaeologists at the Old Farm,  
Strawberry Hill Open Day, November 2014. K Rippingdale
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Christmas Carols and ANZAC ceremony  
at Peninsula Farm

The banks of the Swan River at Peninsula Farm 
provided a beautiful setting for the annual Christmas 
Carols and ANZAC Day events. Both events are 
traditionally well supported by the local community 
and a variety of individuals and organisations that 
provide support for the programs. The Peninsula 
Farm volunteers are key to the success of these 
annual events undertaking a number of behind the 
scenes tasks in preparation for the events as well as 
assisting on the day.

National Trust Heritage Festival 2015

The National Trust Heritage Festival (18 Apr–18 May) 
was launched by Mr Steve Irons, Federal Member for 
Swan, to a multi-cultural crowd of 6,000 at the very 
touching Gallipoli Voices event held by the City of 
Canning on the banks of the Canning River. This 
year’s festival, with its theme Conflict & Compassion, 
offered 160 events across WA including 40 in regional 
areas. Many events focused on the ANZAC centenary 
while others explored a range of community based 
acts of conflict and compassion. The majority of 
events were either free, cost neutral or low cost 
events. 

National Trust properties across WA offered free  
entry to visitors on every Sunday of the festival.

Public Programs

Trust President Max Kay AM Cit WA and his wife Norma  
at the ANZAC ceremony. A Brake

Sunset Anzac ceremony at Peninsula Farm. G Pickering

Positive support at the Peninsula Farm Anzac ceremony. G Pickering



Public Programs

Samson House was the focus of a talk on Rock gardens of the early 
20th century by John Viska of the Garden History Society. K Lomas

Samson House was the focus of a talk on Rock gardens of the early 
20th century by John Viska of the Garden History Society. K Lomas

Whirling Dervishes from Turkey were a highlight of the  
National Trust Heritage Festival. G Pickering

Turkish and Australian actors portrayed a dramatic  
wartime experience. G Pickering

Colourful Turkish ceremonial practice was integral to the official 
launch of the National Trust Heritage Festival. G Pickering

Rev Sealin Garlett delivers a Welcome to Country to launch 
Gallipolli Voices and the 2015 National Trust Heritage Festival.  
G Pickering
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The magazine reported 71 national and 
international stories during 2014/2015. 

Trust News Australia is a major education and learning tool for the National Trust



Trust News Australia is a quarterly magazine 
distributed nationally to National Trust members 
and stakeholders. Available in both a hardcopy 
and digital format, in 2014/2015 Trust News 
Australia reported on National Trust initiatives, 
programs and projects from each state and 
territory and included articles from guest 
contributors about heritage matters.

Trust News Australia continues to be a major 
education and learning tool. The magazine 
reported 71 national and international stories 
during 2014/2015 and featured the anniversary  
of the Gallipoli landing as a major content theme.

Trust News Australia is supported by the 
Department of Environment and coordinated by 
the National Trust of Australia (WA). In addition, 
state based publication Trust News WA reported  
a further 69 heritage stories. 

Online distribution of National Trust publications 
has expanded through the Issuu digital distribution 
account during 2014/2015. Monthly distribution  
of the Trust E-News service to the National Trust 
membership delivers heritage event highlights.

The National Trust has completed trialling 
Geocaching, an electronic modern day treasure 
hunt that encourages people to visit its properties 
and learn a little bit about them through the 
discovery of geocaches. The program has been 
trialled in metropolitan properties and will now  
be rolled out across the state. 

INTERPRETATIONCATALYST 

Rail Trail builds a head of steam ANNE BRAKE INTERPRETATION MANAGER

Funding for two projects, which mark the beginning of the implementation phase for the Augusta to 

Busselton Rail Trail, has been secured and work commenced.

The badly deteriorated Kangaroo Gully 
Railway Bridge was not considered an 
option to carry Water Corporation’s 
wastewater pressure main, linking 
their water treatment plant to the 
development at Vasse Newtown and 
the decision to build a new bridge 
adjacent to the original had been 
made. Intervention by the National 
Trust and the Rail Trail steering 
committee saw the creation of a 
partnership which has seen the old 
bridge conserved while supporting 
the necessary pipework and providing 
a crossing for pedestrians and cyclists 
on the rail trail. 

The completion of the bridge and the 
installation of this first trail head are 
major milestones for the project 
according to Chair of the rail trail 
steering committee David Nicholson.

“Once these are in place the 
committee’s vision for this world 
class rail trail will be clearly seen and 
we anticipate it will lead to further 
support to implement the whole 
trail,” he said.

Partnerships are also driving the 
second rail trail project – the 
development of a trail head for Vasse 
Newtown. The Vasse Newtown 
developers have once again joined 
with the City of Busselton to secure a 
grant from Lotterywest to begin the 
implementation of the trail’s 
interpretation plan. Key to the plan is 
a series of trail heads to create easily 
achievable day trip options for 
walkers and cyclists as well as 
linking together for an end to end 
experience. The trail heads will be 
established at the old sidings 

creating an immediate link into the 
key theme for the interpretation – 
the railway. The sidings also provide 
enough space for adequate parking 
for trail users. 

Other themes and storylines for the 
interpretation will be drawn from the 
extensive surveys and research into 
natural and Aboriginal heritage 
undertaken in the earlier planning 
stages.

Lottery West continues to be a major 
supporter of this important project. 
Partnerships with state and local 
government, commercial interests 
and local communities will be the 
key to its success.
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ABOVE:  Peter McCleery on the completed railway bridge

INTERPRETATIONINNOVATION

Curtin Law School opts for 57 Murray Street 
Curtin Law School will relocate to 57 Murray Street, Perth in a new plan to increase university access and 

city presence under a leasing deal with the National Trust of Western Australia announced late April.

Curtin University Vice Chancellor 
Professor Deborah Terry said the 
decision to adopt the newly 
conserved State Registered place for 
Curtin Law School demonstrates the 
University’s commitment to 
sustainability and community 
heritage values.

“The building at 57 Murray Street has 
an extraordinary history associated 
with the development of Western 
Australia’s Public Medical and Health 
Department from 1912 as well the 
Department of Aborigines and later 
the Department of Native Affairs 
until 1945,” she said.

National Trust of Western Australia 
Chairman Justice Michael Murray 

AM QC said the National Trust of 
Western Australia was committed to 
sustainable and compatible uses for 
state heritage places like 57 Murray 
Street.

“The National Trust as a Trust for 
government and community is 
delighted to make available to Curtin 
University a sustainable outcome for 
a state-owned registered heritage 
place,” Justice Murray said.

“The conservation outcomes at 57 
Murray Street build upon a series of 
recent substantial adaptive reuse 
outcomes by the National Trust 
including Wanslea Wellness Centre 
and Stirling House Schools of Early 
Learning at Fremantle,” he said.

“57 Murray Street has an important 
and difficult past which has 
impacted on Aboriginal people over 
generations and awareness of this 
history will be a positive outcome of 
the links with Curtin University.”

“This building, along with the 
adjacent Curtin Graduate School of 
Business, and the Old Perth Boys’ 
School which will be utilised for 
stakeholder engagement, will give 
the University a significant city 
presence,” Professor Terry said. 

Inside this issue
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ABOVE: 57 Murray Street, Perth. R Frith Acorn Photo

INTERPRETATIONINNOVATION

Curtin Uni brings new 
future to Old Perth Boys’ 
School GINA PICKERING

Curtin University’s new city premises will be 

located at Old Perth Boys’ School in St Georges 

Terrace, Perth under a leasing deal with the 

National Trust of Western Australia.

Curtin University Vice-Chancellor 
Deborah Terry said she was 
delighted with the decision which 
would strengthen the presence of 
Curtin University in the CBD. Curtin 
also has the Curtin Graduate School 
of Business located at 78 Murray 
Street in the city.

“The location is perfect and the 
move is very timely, given how 
important our links with industry, 
business and alumni will be to our 
future success,” Professor Terry said.

Old Perth Boys’ School has a 
prominent location at the entrance 
to Brookfield Place adjacent to the 
BHP Billiton Tower, retail outlets and 

an outstanding line up of adapted 
heritage places including the former 
Newspaper House, Royal Insurance, 
WA Trustees and Perth Technical 
College.

National Trust CEO Tom Perrigo said 
the Trust is committed to both a 
sustainable and compatible use of 
state heritage places under its care 
and control and Curtin University’s 
proposal has met these criteria.

“This is a win for present and future 
generations which will see one of 
the oldest buildings in Perth CBD 
remain in public ownership and 
used as a public education facility,” 
Mr Perrigo said.

Constructed in 1854, the Perth Boys’ 
School was the first purpose-built 
public school in Perth. It has historic 
links to Curtin University through 
Perth Technical College and the 
Western Australian Institute of 
Technology (WAIT) which both 
occupied the premises at 139 St 
Georges Terrace.

The National Trust and Curtin 
University are working together to 
complete an internal fit out of the 
building during 2015.

“We are very pleased to be working 
with the National Trust in their 
efforts to conserve Australia’s 
heritage,” Professor Terry said.

Inside this issue

PERSPECTIVES CONNECTIONSPLACESPLACES OUT AND ABOUTOUT ‘N’ ABOUT

TRUST NEWS|WESTERN AUSTRALIA
EDITION 01 | FEBRUARY 2015 - APRIL 2015

CY O’Connor Lecture JULIE HUTCHENS, MARKETING & EVENTS COORDINATOR 

Professor Deborah Terry, Vice-Chancellor of Curtin University will deliver the 2015 CY O’Connor 
Lecture. A Fellow of both the Australian Psychological Society and the Academy of Social Sciences 
in Australia (ASSA), Professor Terry has had a distinguished research career in psychology 
spanning more than 25 years.

This year the lecture will be held in Perth on Tuesday 3 March in the Bankwest Theatre at Curtin 
University in Bentley. Goldfields’ residents can attend the lecture in Kalgoorlie on Wednesday 4 March 
at the Western Australian School of Mines. Kalgoorlie lecture guests will also have the opportunity to 
hear about the status of conservation works for heritage buildings on the School of Mines campus. 

Light refreshments will be served after the lecture. Visit trybooking.com to book tickets online. 

This event is supported by the Water Corporation, Curtin University and the Western Australian 
Museum - Kalgoorlie. The CY O’Connor Lecture is a premier event in the National Trust’s public 
program calendar.

ABOVE: Old Perth Boys’ School will provide a greater city profile for Curtin University. K Rippingale
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Partnerships

Israelite Bay Telegraph Station

In February 2015 Trust staff members visited the 
Telegraph Station at Israelite Bay accompanied by 
UWA archaeologist Sean Winter and conservation 
builder Keith McAllister. Over three days the buildings 
and archaeological sites were investigated and a 
scope of work prepared for conservation of Cook’s 
Cottage which is in a severely dilapidated condition. 
Unfortunately anticipated funding has not been 
secured to allow this work to be undertaken. 

Jellyfish Chronicles

The emotional and social connections between 
Perth’s community and the jellyfish of the Swan and 
Canning Rivers are the focus of a scholarship with the 
Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence for 
the History of Emotions (CHE) won by Interpretation 
Officer Gina Pickering. In 2015, Education and 
Learning Officers supported the artistic outreach 
project with the international centre by developing  
a pilot holiday program delivered at Peninsula Farm. 
More than a dozen children attended the workshop 
which included stories, games and creative art.  
The project will draw on oral history outcomes, 
images, perceptions and practices with jellyfish  
and include an audio visual outcome.

Delighted by the idea of jellyfish tentacles during an innovative educational workshop. G Pickering



Aboriginal Foundations

Since 2007 Aboriginal communities have  
been supported through Aboriginal Foundations 
established under the auspices of the National Trust 
of Australia (WA).

Foundations provide a governance and management 
framework that enables communities to develop 
sustainable cultural heritage enterprises while 
building effective and efficient infrastructure to 
function as independent organisations.

Foundations have rapidly developed in 2014–2015  
as the National Trust approach has gained national 
recognition and support from the resource sector.

K + P Foundation

The K + P Foundation was established by the 
Kariyarra and Palyku people to collaborate on the 
delivery of sustainable, environmentally and socially 
responsible projects. The Foundation is supported  
by Roy Hill and is delivered by the Roy Hill Cultural 
Awareness Program. The foundation is exploring  
the development of cultural and environmental 
enterprises to benefit the Kariyarra and Palyku 
communities.

Crushed Balga resin is used in Noongar ceremony. M Poon 61



Budadee Foundation

The Budadee Foundation brings together  
members of the Palyku communities along with 
other Aboriginal people with a direct interest in  
the Woodstock/Abydos region of Western Australia.  
The principal aim of the Foundation is to ensure  
that this very significant but long neglected 
part of Western Australia is properly cared for.  
The Foundation has been working on an 
Environmental Management Plan for the area  
and consolidating the existing management plans 
for the place. The Foundation, with the support  
of the Federal and State government agencies,  
has managed the development of a women’s  
art enterprise in Nullagine. The Foundation is  
supported by Atlas Iron Ore.

Gamburlarna Foundation

The Gamburlarna Foundation was established by  
the Yinjibarndi people to develop sustainable cultural 
and environmental enterprises. The Foundation has 
been active in cultural preservation through cultural 
mapping and oral histories, along with supporting 
the development of a Roebourne based Music 
Academy which aims at improving youth attendance 
at school. The Gamburlarna Foundation is supported 
by Fortescue Metals Group. 

Ngalia Foundation

The Ngalia Foundation has been instrumental  
over the last four years in the rescue and revival of  
six Goldfield Aboriginal Languages. This year the 
groundwork was firmly established to expand the 

program to encompass all 14 endangered languages 
of the region and the creation of a regionally based 
Aboriginal Language Centre. The work of the 
Foundation has gained national and international 
recognition and is well on its way to becoming  
a sustainable and independent Aboriginal 
organisation. The Ngalia Foundation is supported  
by the Federal Government through the  
Indigenous Language and Arts Program.

Prisoners Receive Hands-on Experience

The National Trust and the Department of 
Corrections have completed four conservation 
training courses for prisoners in the current financial 
year. The projects focused on heritage-listed 
buildings which are public assets and have value  
to local communities. 

The partnership with Corrective Services gives 
prisoner participants the unique opportunity to train 
in heritage conservation skills under the guidance  
of experienced craftsmen. 

The National Trust identified four sites where 
supervised prisoners would undergo site-specific 
training across one or two weeks of intensive hands-
on work. These site are Cliff Grange at Greenough, 
Whitby Falls at Serpentine, Avondale near Beverley  
and Campbell House in Geraldton.

The National Trust and local building companies  
have found that sourcing qualified workers with  
the appropriate skills and knowledge to undertake 
conservation work on heritage buildings is a 
significant challenge. 

Partnerships

Prisoners trained in conservation skills under the guidance of 
experienced craftsmen. E Hancock

Working at Avondale, one of the National Trust of  
Western Australia’s regional properties. E Hancock



A Stellar Event at  
the Old Observatory
The National Trust partnered with Star Gazers  
WA during two rare full moon eclipses at the  
Old Observatory in West Perth, providing the 
community with visual access to the stellar 
spectacles through substantial telescopes. 

Astrophotographers captured startling images  
of the ‘blood moon’, tours of the night sky were 
provided by Stargazer astronomers and National 
Trust staff gave tours of the elegant 1896 building 
which played a foundational role in the history of 
astronomy and meteorology in Western Australia. 
Visitors also enjoyed picnic dinners on the 
expansive lawns of the Old Observatory. 

A spectacular full moon eclipse was visible from the Old Observatory on 8 October 2014. J Athanasou 63
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Employment and Industrial Relations

Number and Category of Staff

As at 30 June 2015 the National Trust had the 
following number of employees:

No. and Category 2014–15 2013–14

Full-time permanent 12 10

Full-time contract 12 14

Part-time permanent 2 2.98

Part-time contract 4.29 4

Secondment 0 0

Staff Development

The National Trust is committed to providing the  
best possible development opportunities for its staff, 
enabling them to maintain a high level of skills  
and meet advances in processes and technology.

National Trust employees are encouraged to  
develop their career pathways through professional 
development and training, self and formal staff 
evaluations, provision of flexible work options, health 
and wellness programs supported by training and 
mentoring.

Recruitment

Selection and recruitment processes are  
maintained at a consistently high standard to  
ensure appointment of people to positions with  
the appropriate level of skills and diversity to 
enhance the quality of service provision.

Workers Compensation

There have been no compensation claims  
recorded during the financial year.

Governance Disclosures

Australian Council of National Trusts

The Australian Council of National Trusts is a 
company limited by guarantee, established by State 
and Territory Trusts to coordinate national activities 
including reviewing legislation and policy relating to 
heritage, managing heritage awareness programs 
such as ‘Heritage@Risk’ and supporting the objectives 
of the Australian National Trust movement.

Conflict of Interest

At the date of reporting, no Senior Officers,  
or organisations of which Senior Officers are 
members, have substantial interests in existing  
or proposed contracts with the National Trust.

Other Legal Requirements

Advertising

In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral  
Act 1907, the National Trust is required to report on 
expenditure incurred during the financial year in 
relation to advertising agencies, market research 
organisations, polling organisations and media 
advertising organisations.

Total expenditure for 2014–2015 was $0.

Expenditure Total Expenditure Amount

Advertising 
Agencies

Nil Nil

Market Research 
organisations

Nil Nil

Polling 
organisations

Nil Nil

Direct mail 
organisations

Nil Nil

Media 
advertising 
organisations

Nil Nil
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Disability Access and  
Inclusion Plan Outcomes

The National Trust is aware of the importance of a 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan in accordance 
with the Disability Services Act 1993, s.29 and 
Schedule 3 of the Disability Services Regulations 
2004. Although the Trust remains committed to the 
development of the plan, requests for resources to 
write the plan have been unsuccessful. All new 
projects adhere to requirements.

Mindful of the limitations of some heritage places, 
people with disabilities do generally have the 
opportunity to access National Trust places and 
participate in its activities.

Compliance with Public Sector  
Standards and Ethical Codes

The National Trust is compliant with Public Sector 
Standards and Ethical Codes including its own 
code of conduct in line with the WA Code of Ethics 
and Conduct Guidelines as provided by the Office 
of Public Sector Standards. 

Record Keeping Plans

The efficiency and effectiveness of the National 
Trust’s record keeping plan, as a requirement  
under s.19 of the State Records Act 2000 (SR Act),  
is evaluated every five years to assess the extent  
to which the plan meets the record keeping  
policy objectives. 

In line with the Strategic Plan 2011–2016, the 
National Trust’s commitment to best practice  
has seen the development and introduction of  
an Electronic Data Records Management System 
which will provide better processes for record 
keeping.



Government Policy Requirements

Substantive Equality

The National Trust is aware of the intent and 
substance of the Policy Framework for Substantive 
Equality and has worked within the guidelines of the 
framework to ensure there is substantive equality in 
all services delivered by the National Trust.

Occupational Safety,  
Health and Injury Management

The National Trust is committed to taking all 
reasonably practicable measures under Section 19  
of the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSH Act), 
to protect the safety and health of its employees, 
volunteers and other people within the workplace, 
including contractors and to ensure there are safe 
systems of work.

Upon induction employees are informed of the 
formal and informal processes and measures to 
ensure a safe working environment for them.  
The organisation has employees who are trained  
as Occupational Health and Safety Officers,  
who are accessible to employees, as required.

Measure Actual Results Results Against Target

2013–14 2014–15 Target Comment on Result

Number of fatalities Zero (0) Zero (0) Zero (0) N/A

Lost time injury/disease 
(LTI/D) incidence rate

Zero (0) Zero (0) Zero (0) N/A

Lost time injury severity rate Zero (0) Zero (0) Zero (0) N/A

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:

(i) within 13 weeks 100% 100% 100% N/A

(ii) within 26 weeks 100% 100% Greater than or 
equal to 80%

N/A

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management 
responsibilities

100% 100% Greater than or 
equal to 80%

N/A
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Cyril Gilbert is a contributor to the Goldfield Aboriginal Language Program. K Dreessen



Appendix 1
Bequests and Donations 
2014–15

($100 and over)
Atlas Iron Limited

Mark Clifton

Beth Duncan

Phyllis Grant

Nicholas & Sally-Anne Hasluck

Duncan & Diana Hodgson

Morris & Janice Johnston

Rosalind Lawe Davies

Christine Lewis

Phil & Frànceen (Fron) 
Montgomery

Clare Nunan

Tom Perrigo

Ross Potter

Marjorie Richardson

Rotary Club of Matilda Bay

Eleanor Rowley

Stargazers Club WA

The National Trust sends a sincere 
expression of gratitude to its 
Supporters, Sponsors, Partners  
and Benefactors; if someone has 
been inadvertently omitted please 
accept our sincere apologies.

Appendix 2
Honorary and Life Members, 
Committees and Volunteers

Honours 2014–15
Fellows
Michal Lewi AM

Life Members
Ronald Bodycoat AM

Eileen Brown

Fiona Bush

Heather Dayman

Wendy (Dorothy) Folvig

Pamella Hall

Joyce Hardy

Cleve Hassell

Katherine McLarty

Frank Montgomery OAM

Phillip Playford AM

Roslyn Stewart OAM

Don Strang

Valmai Symons

Committees of Council 2014–15
Aboriginal Advisory 
Committee
Mark bin Bakar

Harley Coyne

Charmaine Green

Kado Muir

Irene Stainton

Art Deco Committee 
Theo Bredmeyer

Jean Clark

Ronald Facius

Vyonne Geneve

Linda Montgomery

Budadee Foundation 
Robert Cheedy

Blaze Kwaymulina

Reggie Malana 

David Milroy

Walter Stream

Kevin Stream 

Dwayne Stream (Chair)

Lindsay Yuline

Classification Standing 
Committee 
Kristy Bizzaca

Fiona Bush

Sandra Curtis

Wendy (Dorothy) Folvig

Vyonne Geneve

Caroline Grant

Eric Hancock

Graham Horne

Robert Mitchell

Geoffrey Moor

Judith Murray

Donald Newman

Philippa Rogers

Inger Russell

John Stephens

Robyn Taylor

Defence Heritage Committee 
Helen Birch

Graham Horne

Graham Mackenzie Smith

Graham McEwan – Co-opted Member

John Mercer – Co-opted Member

Robert Mitchell – Chair / Secretary

Don Rae – Co-opted Member

Zoe Scott – Co-opted Member

John Stephens – Deputy Chair

Executive Committee 
Gregory Boyle

Helen Cogan

John Cowdell AM

Cheryl Edwardes

Grant Godfrey

Jenny Gregory AM

Max Hipkins

Max Kay AM CitWA

Christine Lewis

Kenneth Michael AC

Michael Murray AM QC

John Palermo

Tom Perrigo

Finance & Audit Committee 
Pasquo Cirillo

Grant Godfrey

Peter King

John Palermo

Tom Perrigo

Gamburlana Foundation 
Rodney Adam

Davina Boyd

Michael Gallagher – Chair

Jayne Ranger

Ken Sandy

Ricky Sandy

Diana Smith

Jill Tucker

K & P Foundation 
Steven Mckay

Alfred Barker

Antoine Bloemen

Raylene Button

Louise Hansen
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Jeanette Hasleby

Blaze Kwaymullina

Diana Robinson

Jeanie Snowball

Walter Stream

Matera Foundation 
Lauren Gillott

Hayden Lowe

Peter Matera

Giovanna Rotondella

John Thompson

Membership & Volunteer 
Committee 
Max Kay AM CitWA

John Cowdell AM

Roger Jennings

National Trust of Australia 
(WA) Council 
Gregory Boyle

Helen Cogan

Kenneth Collins AM CitWA

John Cowdell AM

Cheryl Edwardes

Stephen Errington

Grant Godfrey

Jenny Gregory AM

Max Hipkins

Roger Jennings

Max Kay AM CitWA

Christine Lewis

Kenneth Michael AC

Robert Mitchell

Jocelyn Mitchell

Geoffrey Moor

Michael Murray AM QC

John Palermo

Irene Stainton

John Stephens

Robyn Taylor

Michael Wheatley

Ngalia Foundation 
Cyril Gilbert

Amanda Gilbert 

Deeva Muir

Kado Muir

Talbot Muir

Zabar Muir 

Jennifer Narrier 

Shirley Wonyabong

Trails WA 
Rod Annear – Ex-Officio

Jamie Bennett

Steve Bennett – Ex-Officio

Anne Brake

Linda Daniels – Ex-Officer

Kylie Frazer

Stuart Harrison

Matt Hewitson

Jenny Nichol

Peter Rossdeutscher (Chair)

Active Volunteers 2014–15
Avondale
Dina Barrett-Lennard

Luke Blanch

Richard Boladeras

Wayne Byrne

Marian Byrne

Robert de Gruchy

Stephen Gowland

Duayne Haeusler

John Hawke

Simon Innes

Jo Johnson

Michelle Kerr

Deborah Kitai

Mark Kitai

Bruce Mann

Gregory Manzie

Sue Martin

Michael Martin

Valda Morton

Erin Nicol

John Pratt

Denise Ridgway

Ashlyn Ridgway

Kathleen Rudd

David Shopland

Monica Van Der Snoek

Raymond Walters

Bridgedale
Adrian Elder

East Perth Cemeteries
Brian Anderson

Shirley Babis

Janice Barker

Colin Caughey

Robin Creswell

Graeme Gerrans

Valmae Hogan

John James

Lyall Page

Carol Sharp

Education
Terence Crawford

Bill (William) Cutler

Keith Jarvis

Events
Susan Deany

Robert Mitchell

Karin Polmear-Haveman

Kenneth See

Judy Wilke

Carol Young

Heritage Research
Keith McAllister

Sean Winter

Jarrahdale
Helen Huxley

Ross Jones

Jan Jones

Charles Kerfoot

Victoria Kerfoot

David Keron

Ric Sambell 

Sheila Twine

Simon Watling

No 1 Pump Station
Barry Bryant

Helen Bryant

Terence Crawford

William Cutler

Diana Frylinck

Keith Jarvis

Bethlyn Jarvis

Roger Jennings

Lilian Jennings



Lyall Page

Don Young

No 8 Pump Station
Frederick Ellis

Old Blythewood
Maxwell Armstrong

Pamela Boardman

Linda Brown-Davies

Heather Dayman

Merle McAlpine

Lynette Oliver

John Pace

Roslyn Stewart

Geraldine Taylor

Vincent Taylor

John Watson

Old Farm, Strawberry Hill
Margaret Adams

Teresa Ayres

Linda Barton

Diane Bee

Kate Bolt

Madeleine Bolt

Laura Bowman

Inger Brooks

Marianne Chester

Maxwell Chester

Faye Clay

Dave Cockburn

Jennifer Cockburn

Michael Day

Catherine de Vos van Steenwijk

Felicity Dickinson

Owen Donegan

Angela Donnelly

John Evans

Janet Evans

Leone Fernie

Aubrey Fisher

Ruth (Linda) Harloe

Ainsley Harrison

Alan Jones

George Kavanagh

Joanne Lane

Mooi Lee

Kerry Lewis

Peter Lunt

Seonaid MacKay

Vivienne Matts

Brian McCrow

Geoffrey Merrick

Anne Middleton

Alwyn Middleton

Anne North

Kathleen Pitman

Elaine Potter

Kristy-Lee Power

Alan Rayfield

Francis Rayfield

Mel Rees

Marianne Rendell

Dave Shaw

Jennifer Sollis

Charles Stoney

Stewart S’Vryaan

David Taylor

Geoffrey Topping

June Webb

Judith Williams

Donald Williams

Old Observatory
Carmel Charlton Hancock

Wendy (Dorothy) Folvig

Graeme Gerrans

Emma Guthrie

Lilian Jennings

Jeanette McQueen

Timothy Mettam

Maureen Perham

Gerald Tierney

Peninsula Farm
Alice Adamson

Virginia Bristowe

Anastasia Brown

John Brown

Bruce Carroll

Krystyna Curtis

Janis Duncan

Alison Fox

Anna Gorski

Pamella Hall

Audrey Heasman

Christina Ing

Margaret Kuhne

Janet Lynn

Jennifer Marshall

Sybil McCaughey

Joan McNamara

Julie McRobbie

Jennette Merrylees

Robert Mitchell

Ann Sippe

Stephen Smith

Lindy Sorensen

Margaret Triffitt

Maria Valenti

Jonathan Wolf

Post Office, Bunbury
Domenic D’Agostino

Cameron Membrey

Philip Smith

Samson House
Keith Roberton

Settlers Cottage
Peter Scales

St Peters, Gilgering
Christopher Broadbent

Michael Broadbent

Glenyse Broadbent

Malcolm Fleay

Sally Fleay

Alan Fleay

Lesley Fleay

David Fleay

Wonnerup
Alan Porter

Woodbridge
Colleen Armitage

Elizabeth Atkins

Madeleine Ausbruch

Wendy Brindle

Eileen Brown

Linda Brown-Davies

Sandra Cailes

Maureen Cross

Toni (Patricia) Crossland
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Alan Dayman

Heather Dayman

Nola Dickson

Jennifer Du Boulay

Halina Krapez

Faye Lemke

Nataasha Lethbridge

Merle McAlpine

Kelly McConkey

Julie McRobbie

Betty (Elizabeth) Mills

Emma Moore

Lyn Oliver

Anne Read

Keith Roberton

Helen Savage

Marilyn Simcock

Carol Smith

Eileen Smith

Roslyn Stewart

Vincent Taylor

Judith Walsh

Margaret Warden

Heather Whykes

Denise Young

UWA Masters of Professional 
Archaeology Internship
Ross Bertinshaw

Kate Robertson

Appendix 3
Attendance at Council and Executive Meetings

Council Meetings

Name Attendance Apology Leave of 
Absence

* Mrs Alice Adamson 5 0 0

Mr Gregory Boyle 3 0 5

* Dr Fiona Bush 3 1 0

Ms Helen Cogan 6 2 0

Dr Kenneth Collins  
AM CitWA

5 3 0

Hon John Cowdell AM 7 1 0

* Hon Cheryl Edwardes 1 4 0

Dr Steve Errington 8 0 0

Mr Grant Godfrey 6 2 0

Prof Jenny Gregory AM 7 1 0

Mr Max Hipkins 8 0 0

Mr Roger Jennings 7 1 0

Mr Max Kay AM CitWA 6 2 0

Ms Christine Lewis 8 0 0

* Dr Ken Michael AC 2 1 0

* Mrs Jocelyn Mitchell 3 0 0

Colonel (Ret’d)  
Robert Mitchell

7 1 0

Mr Geoff Moor 7 1 0

Hon Michael Murray 
AM QC

7 1 0

Mr John Palermo 3 5 0

* Prof Alistair Paterson 0 0 5

* Ms Irene Stainton 0 1 0

Prof John Stephens 6 2 0

Dr Robyn Taylor 4 4 0

Dr Michael Wheatley 8 0 0

* Has retired or been appointed during this financial year, thus served on 
Council for part year only.



Executive Meetings

Name Attendance Apology Leave of 
Absence

Mr Gregory Boyle 2 1 6

Ms Helen Cogan 7 2 0

Hon John Cowdell AM 7 2 0

* Hon Cheryl Edwardes 8 1 0

Mr Grant Godfrey 3 6 0

Prof Jenny Gregory AM 5 4 0

Mr Max Hipkins 8 1 0

Mr Max Kay AM CitWA 7 2 0

Ms Christine Lewis 6 3 0

* Dr Ken Michael AC 1 1 0

Hon Michael Murray 
AM QC

8 1 0

Mr John Palermo 6 3 0

Mr Tom Perrigo 6 3 0

* Has retired or been appointed during this financial year, thus served on 
Executive for part year only.

Appendix 4
2014 Honour and  
Award Recipients

2014 Volunteer Awards
McLarty Award
In recognition of support and 
contribution to the National Trust  
of Australia (WA) for over 5 years:

Shirley Babis

Anastasia Brown

Nola Dickson

Max Hipkins

Peter King

Halina Krapez

Seonaid MacKay

Sybil McCaughey

Elizabeth Mills

Dr Michael Wheatley

Forrest Award
In recognition of support and 
contribution to the National Trust  
of Australia (WA) for over 10 years:

Krystyna Curtis

Frederick Ellis

Christina Ing

Bethlyn Jarvis

Keith Jarvis

Roger Jennings

Geoffrey Moor

Dave Shaw

Don Young

Stirling Award 
In recognition of support and 
contribution to the National Trust  
of Australia (WA) for over 15 years:

Pamella Hall

John James

Carol Sharp

Special Awards –  
Certificate of Appreciation

For significant contributions with 
developing the online database of 
East Perth Cemeteries burials and 
biographically information:

Lorraine Clarke

Jeanette Hasleby

Cherie Strickland

The Friends of Battye Library (Inc).

For significant contribution in 
assisting with the National Trust 
Archival Photographic collection:

Graeme Gerrans

For significant contribution to 
reconciliation through the National 
Trust Aboriginal Advisory Group:

Roman Kan

Alisha Maharaj-Maclean

Irene Stainton

Feilman Award
The Margaret Feilman Award is 
named after Margaret Feilman,  
a founding member and past 
Chair of the National Trust, and is 
presented to a nominee who has 
provided extraordinary service 
over a long period of time.  

This year’s recipient is:

In recognition of Lotterywest’s 
outstanding commitment to the 
conservation and interpretation of 
Western Australia’s cultural heritage 
and the National Trust of Australia 
(WA).

Lotterywest
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Appendix 5
National Trust Managed Properties

Metropolitan Place Local Government 
Authority

Artillery Drill Hall Fremantle

Curtin Family Home Cottesloe

East Perth Cemeteries Perth

Gallop House Nedlands

Luisini’s Winery Joondalup

57 Murray Street Perth

Old Observatory Perth

Old Perth Boys’ School Perth

Peninsula Farm (Tranby) Bayswater

Royal George Hotel East Fremantle

Royal Perth Hospital Perth

* Samson House Fremantle

Settlers Cottage Stirling

Stirling House Fremantle

Wanslea Cottesloe

Woodbridge Swan

Non-Metropolitan 
Place

Local Government 
Authority

Avondale Beverley

* Beverley Police Quarters Beverley

Bill Sewell Complex, 
Geraldton

Greater Geraldton

Bunbury Post Office 
(fmr)

Bunbury

* Bridgedale Bridgetown

* Central Greenough Greater Geraldton

* Cold Harbour Land York

Collie Police Station Collie

Collie Roundhouse Collie

* Cue Masonic Lodge Cue

Ellensbrook Augusta-Margaret 
River

Non-Metropolitan 
Place

Local Government 
Authority

Gingin Railway Station Gingin

* Gray’s Store Greater Geraldton

* Grindon Land Boyup Brook

Hydro Power Station Dardanup

Israelite Bay Telegraph 
Station

Esperance

* Jarrahdale Serpentine-Jarrahdale

Kylie Dam West Arthur

Leonora Land Leonora

* Mangowine Nungarin

Moir Homestead Esperance

Old Blythewood Murray

* Old Farm, Strawberry Hill Albany

* Parkwater Bushland Cowaramup

* Pinjarra Courthouse Murray

Rosella House Greater Geraldton

* St James’ Church Greater Geraldton

St Peter’s, Glebe 
Gilgering

York

* Stone Barn & Cottage Greater Geraldton

* Temperance Lodge Greater Geraldton

The Hermitage Greater Geraldton

* Walkaway Cemetery 
(part)

Greater Geraldton

Warden Finnerty’s Coolgardie

* Wesleyan Chapel Greater Geraldton

Whitby Falls Serpentine-Jarrahdale

Wonnerup Busselton

York Courthouse 
Complex

York

* Freehold.



Golden Pipeline Local Government 
Authority

Ghooli Houses Yilgarn

Karalee Rocks Yilgarn

Mount Charlotte 
Reservoir

Kalgoorlie-Boulder

No 1 Pump Station Mundaring

No 3 Pump Station Cunderdin

No 4 Pump Station  
& House

Merredin

No 8 Pump Station  
& House

Coolgardie

Poole Street Bridge Northam

Weir Village Road 
Houses 

Mundaring

Appendix 6
Heritage Appeals 2014–15

The National Trust of Australia (WA) administers 
heritage appeals to enable communities,  
as well as itself, to raise funds for conservation  
and interpretation of Western Australia’s heritage. 
Donations over two dollars are tax deductible. 

During the year $1,059,560 in income was generated 
from the National Trust’s active heritage appeals and 
$1,275,465 of appeal donation funds were spent on 
conserving Western Australian heritage places.

Appeal Names
Applecross Primary School 

Avondale Conservation

Bibbulmun Track

Bicentennial National Trail

Budadee Foundation

Busselton Settlement

Cape to Cape Trail

Christ Church Claremont

City of Perth Heritage Appeal

East Perth Cemeteries Monuments

Gabbi Kylie Foundation

Geraldton Catholic Cathedral

Golden Jubilee Appeal

Golden Pipeline Heritage

Golden Valley Tree Farm

Halls Creek Post Office

Holly Trinity York

Kalgoorlie Trades Hall

Lady Walpole Restoration

Maali Foundation

Malimup Appeal

Matera Foundation

Monsignor J Hawes Geraldton Appeal

Monty Millar Appeal

Monumental Restoration

Museum Freedom Tolerance

New Norcia Benedictine Monastery

Ngalia Depot Spring

Norman & Beard Organ

Old Court House Museum

Peninsula Hotel Maylands

Regal Theatre Heritage

Sacred Heart Highgate

Sacred Heart Beagle Bay

St Aidan’s Claremont

St Andrews Perth

St Columba’s Church South Perth

St Constantine

St Cuthbert’s Church

St George’s Cathedral

St Josephs

St Luke’s Gingin

St Luke’s Heritage Precinct

St Mary’s Busselton

St Mary’s Cathedral Perth

St Mary’s Leederville

St Mary’s Middle Swan

St Matthew’s Guildford

St Patrick’s Fremantle

St Paul’s Community Hall

St Peters Anglican Vic Park

St Thomas Parish Heritage Appeal Claremont

Temple David Heritage Appeal

Terraced House Queen Victoria

Thomas Peel Archaeology

Treemission

Tuart Forrest Appeal

Two Feet & Heart Beat

WA Rowing Club Memorabilia

WARC Boatshed

75



Financials
08

Independent Auditor’s Report

Certification of Performance Indicators

Key Performance Indicators

Certification of Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Financial Statements

 
Auditor General 

Page 1 of 3 
 

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600 

   
 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
THE NATIONAL TRUST OF AUSTRALIA (W.A.) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of The National Trust of Australia (W.A.). 
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Council is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Council determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Trust’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Council, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of The National Trust of Australia (W.A.) at 30 June 2015 
and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Wanslea Cancer Wellness Centre was the only Australian project to receive a conservation award at the 2015 UNESCO Awards.  
Robert Frith / Acorn Photo
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Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by The National Trust of Australia (W.A.) during the year 
ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Controls exercised by The National Trust of Australia (W.A.) are those policies and procedures 
established by the Council to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions. 
 
Council’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Council is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and 
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by The National Trust of Australia (W.A.) based on my audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls 
to ensure that the Trust complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation of 
relevant controls. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by The National Trust of Australia (W.A.) are sufficiently 
adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of The National Trust of Australia (W.A.) for the 
year ended 30 June 2015.  
 
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
Council’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Council determines necessary to ensure that the key 
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
and Assurance Standards.  
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Council’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of The National Trust of Australia (W.A.) are 
relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Trust’s performance and fairly represent 
indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of  
The National Trust of Australia (W.A.) for the year ended 30 June 2015 included on the Trust’s 
website. The Trust’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Trust’s website. This audit 
does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Trust’s website. The auditor’s report refers 
only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described above. It does not 
provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these 
financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a 
website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key 
performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the 
financial statements and key performance indicators. 
 

 
GLEN CLARKE 
DEPUTY AUDITOR GENERAL 
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia 
25 August 2015 
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Join the National Trust and gain FREE entry to 
around 1000 heritage places in 21 countries.

The National Trust of Australia (WA) was established in 
1959 and is a not-for-profit membership organisation. 
The National Trust is both a “Trust” for the government 
and the community and works to conserve and 
interpret WA’s unique natural, historic, built and 
Aboriginal heritage.

Your membership will help present and future 
generations celebrate their heritage.

Membership Benefits

• A valid membership card from date of joining;

• Free entry to around 1000 heritage places in  
21 countries;

• Quarterly copies of the national and state magazine 
Trust News Australia and Trust News WA;

• Special offers from cafés at National Trust properties 
in Western Australia;

• Opportunity to participate in a range of National 
Trust events at member’s rates; and

• The knowledge you are actively assisting the 
conservation and interpretation of Western 
Australia’s cultural heritage.

Contact us

E trust@ntwa.com.au
T 61 8 9321 6088
F 61 8 9324 1571
nationaltrust.org.au

The National Trust of Australia (WA) acknowledges its properties are situated on Aboriginal land across the state.  
The National Trust recognises Aboriginal people remain the cultural and spiritual custodians of their land and 
continue to practise their values, languages, beliefs and knowledge. The National Trust is committed to working with 
Aboriginal people to ensure these practices are recognised and included in the conservation and interpretation of its 
properties and Aboriginal people are consulted and involved in the development of Trust projects and programs.




